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PREFACE.

Quote from my work as much as e’er you please ;
For extracts, lo ! I'll put no angry face on ;
Nor fill a hungry lawyer’s fist with fees,
To squeeze John Murray like the furious Mason.
_ Peter Pindar.

SHOULD any reader of this book feel disposed to
demand his money back, his outraged feelings may be
mollified by the assurance that the book was not written
with malice aforethought; like Mrs. Stowe’s Topsy, it never
was born—it grew. A casual conversation with a gentle-
man, whose name had been given to a new township in
northern Ontario, suggested “ Township Names” as the
topic for an address at a church entertainment, and the
lecture notes have continued to expand until they reached
their present dimensions. The ground covered is that part
of Ontario south of Lake Nipissing. In the northern part
of Nipissing district and in Algoma there are many out-
lined, but as yet unnamed, townships, to which names will
be given as the surveyors go on with their work. The
publication of a volume relating ;to the names of the
northern and north-western townships can be very
properly postponed until the surveys are completed,
but the field covered by this volume was neglected too
long, hence the present difficulty of making the record
complete. With the best will in the world to give credit
to whom credit is due, the author cannot undertake to-
enumerate the hundreds of books consulted, nor to name
the scores of correspondents from whom he obtained infor-
mation. Some of them are referred to in the text. No
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delusions are entertained with regard to the possible
popularity of a compilation of this kind. The book will
interest one class of Canadian readers, and its usefulness
as a book of reference will increase with the passage of the
years.  Perhaps its perusal may stimulate members of
Historical Societies and others to put upon record, for the
use of future historians, facts relating to place-names which
a few years hence will otherwise be difficult to obtain.
There is abundant scope for investigation of this kind, in
the names of towns and villages, of lakes, bays and rivers—
even in the names of streets in towns and cities. A name
is selected for a well-known reason, of which no record is
made; in course of time all the people'acquainted with that
reason have died or moved away, and succeeding genera-
tions are left to wonder and to guess about the origin of
the name. The writer makes no claim to omniscience nor
to infallibility ; he has simply done the best he could with
the materials obtainable, and he invites criticisms and
corrections, either public or private, and promises to make
good use in the future of any suggestions that may thus
come to him.
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COUNTY AND TOWNSHIP NAMES

The first duty of the historical chronicler is, by common consent,
some inquiry into the reason for the nomenclature of that particular
locality which he may have chosen for his depredations. In this
particular instance, however, we confess with regret that, in spite of
many hours of careful research, we have been quite unable to arrive
at any definite conclusion. Why Kensington should be so called,
antiquarians and such like do not tell us with unanimous voice, which

alone would justify conviction.
—British Realm,

“IN the city of Hamilton, township of Barton, county
of Wentworth, Province of Ontario, Dominion of Canada,
North America.” Whence come all these proper names ?
When and by whom were they applied to the localities
indicated? What do the words mean? Why were they
chosen in preference to other names? George Hamilton,
in the year 1813, divided a portion of his farm, lot 15 in
the third concession of Barton, into building lots, and his
surname was given to the village thus brought into being.
The name of Barton is copied from a town in Lincolnshire,
England, because the Canadian county of Lincoln, at the
time when the township was named, extended from the
Niagara River to the Dundas Creek (Desjardins Canal),
taking in Barton and all the rest of the present South
Riding of Wentworth. Wentworth county was named in
honor of Sir John Wentworth, Governor of Nova Scotia,
for reasons which will be explained further on. The name
Ontario was given to the old Province of Upper Canada
at Confederation (1867) because the word Canada was
required for wider application. The name was taken from
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Lake Ontario, and the Indians used it to express their
idea of a “Handsome Lake.” Canada may be a corruption
of the Spanish “il Capo di Nada” (Cape Nothing)
repeated by the Indians to the French as “ Aca Nada”
(nothing here), or it may be from the Iroquois “ Kanata”
(a collection of huts).  America took its name from
Amerigo Vespucci, an [talian navigator, born 1451.

The study of names is interesting, as is proved by the
frequent newspaper discussions on the origin of local
names. Nor is there any limit to the field for investigation.
Places are named after men, and men assume the names
of places. A township in Huron county was called
Stanley in honor of Lord Stanley, who was Secretary for
the Colonies, and one of Lord Stanley’s ancestors took
the name of Stanleigh from a stony tract of country in
England. Arthur Collins, the author of the “ peerage,”
published toward the close of the eighteenth century,
wrote : “ All our antiquaries agree that surnames have
been taken from castles, manors, offices, etc, and that it
was usual in former ages for younger sons to denominate
themselves from the possessions or abodes of their
ancestors.” The names of places in Ontario have, with a
few exceptions, been conferred within the last 110 years.
After the Peace of Versailles the claims of the supporters
of British monarchy, known as the United Empire
Loyalists, caused the creation in Canada of the new pro-
vince now called Ontario. To the west of the river
Ottawa lay a rich and extensive territory, which, at the
close of the Revolutionary war, had scarcely begun to be
settled. The great region enclosed by the Lakes and the
St. Lawrence had less than 2,000 European dwellers
gathered round the fortified posts on the rivers St.
Lawrence, Niagara and St. Clair. With a view of
separating the Loyalist refugees from the old French
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population, the home authorities caused Haldimand, the
Governor of Canada, to have surveys made along the
upper course of the St. Lawrence, on the northern shore
of Lake Ontario, and on the rivers Niagara and St. Clair.
Haldimand was not at first enthusiastic in the business, for
on November 27, 1783, he wrote from Quebec to Lord
North, saying that Canada would be of little service as a
commercial country, and it would be useless to incur
expense in defending it. He said the frontier to the east
of the St. Lawrence should be left unsettled for some time,
and then be settled by French Canadians, as an antidote
to the restless New England population. He enlarged
upon the danger of mischief by the settling of Loyalists,
who could not agree with the Americans, and said that he
would settle them on the St. Lawrence, towards the Ottawa,
and on the Bay of Chaleurs. During the year 1784 about
ten thousand new colonists were planted in Upper Canada
or Ontario. Large numbers of disbanded officers and
soldiers, with civilians who were quitting the United States
as British Loyalists, thus became the pioneers of civilization
and founders of a new colony. Governor Haldimand was
recalled in 17835.

In 1788 Lord Dorchester issued a proclamation, dated
at the castle of St. Louis, Quebec, forming a certain
number of new districts in the Province of Quebec. The
territory afterward included in Upper Canada was formed
into four districts, viz.: Lunenburg (properly Luneburg),
which extended from the borders of I.ower Canada to the
Gananoque River ; Mecklenburg, from the Gananoque to
the Trent; Nassau, from the Trent River to Long Point
on Lake Erie; Hesse, which embraced the remaining
parts of Western Canada, including Detroit. To each
of these districts were appointed a Judge and a Sheriff.

In 1791 the Pitt Act was passed, making Upper
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Canada and Lower Canada separate provinces. At that
time there were distributed along the St. Lawrence, the
Bay of Quinte, Niagara frontier, Amherstburg, with the
French settlement on the Thames, and the Indians at
Grand River, about 20,000 souls, nearly all of whom had
found their way into what is now the Province of Ontario
since the close of the American War of the Revolution in
1783.

Colonel John Graves Sinicoe, the pioneer Governor of
Upper Canada, who was Lieutenant-Governor under Lord
Dorchester, entered upon the duties of his office July 8,
1792.

Governor Simcoe divided the province into nineteen
counties, which he called Glengarry, Stormont, Dundas,
Grenville, Leeds, Frontenac, Ontario, Addington, Lennox,
Prince Edward, Hastings, Northumberland, Durham, York,
Lincoln, Norfolk, Suffolk, Essex, Kent. Simcoe’s Ontario
county included Wolfe, Howe, Amherst and the other
islands between Gananoque and Prince: Edward county.
[t was soon abolished, and does not appear on the map of
1798. Suffolk was located about where Elgin is now.

The first Parliament of Upper Canada, in 1792, changed
the names of the districts to Eastern, Midland, Home and
Western. ! i

In the session of 1798, a bill was passed, “to ascertain
and establish the boundary lines of the different townships
of the province,” and another bill forming eight districts,
twenty-three counties and 158 townships.

A map of the province, on the scale of twenty miles
to one inch, was prepared by D. W. Smith, Acting Sur-
veyor-General of Upper Canada, a copy of which is given
in the Dominion Archives of 1891. This map shows the
Province of Ontario, as it was organized 100 years ago,
and it will be referred to frequently in the following pages.
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Mr. C. C. James, in his paper on Municipal Govern-
ment, says the township is the basis or beginning of
municipal organization in Ontario. Toward the close of
the eighteenth century the first settlers brought to this
province the township form of government of New Eng-
land, as distinguished from the county government of
Virginia and neighboring States. In the early settlement
of Ontario natural conditions had much to do with fixing
the boundaries of the townships which were first laid out
or surveyed along the St. Lawrence River, around the Bay
of Quinte, in the Niagara Peninsula and in the vicinity of
Detroit. These first scattered sections of settiements were
gradually connected by government roads, military roads
in some cases. As population increased new townships
were surveyed along these roads. The result was a great
variety in the size and the shape of the first townships.
Dr. William Canniff, author of “ The Settlement of Upper
Canada” (1869) makes the following observations on the
selection of place-names in Upper Canada:

“The practice of naming places, rivers, etc, after
Royal personages and those occupying prominent places
in the public service, naturally arose from the intense
loyalty which reigned in the bosoms of all who had for-
saken their old homes to settle under the old flag in the
wilderness. It will be observed how general was the habit
to give names derived from Great Britain and Englishmen.
The most notable exception to this is found in connection
with those places that received names during the time of
Sir Peregrine Maitland, who had a fancy for bestowing
Spanish names.”

Ontario’s township and county names have been taken
from the names of places in England, Ireland and Scotland ;
from the names and titles of British statesmen, many of
whom had official relations with the colony: from the
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soldiers and sailors who helped to acquire or to preserve
Canada for the British Crown; from King George the
Third and his fifteen more or less interesting children and
their titles ; from the Governors, Judges and other officials
who have lived and labored in Canada ; while not a few of
them were named after men whose chief title to distinction
was their persistency and success in land-grabbing. Then
there are Scripture names, botanical names and names of
animals; Greek names and Latin names; French and
Spanish names; Christian names as well as surnames ;
names of men eminent in science, and names of wild
Indians. In tracing the origin of such a motley collection
of names the investigator may be easily induced to follow
a false trail. The people of a township which bears a
peculiar name are almost sure to have a theory with regard
to the origin of the name, which has emanated from some-
body’s fertile brain, received the sanction of tradition and
perhaps got into print. Then it is often reported that the
one man, who would have been able to tell all about a
township name, died just two, or five, or ten years ago,
without having imparted the secret to any survivor. The
inference is that the collection of data for a book on town-
ship names has been postponed too long, yet there is
always room for hope that the possessors of the missing
links will put in an appearance in time to make their
knowledge available. Prof. William F. Ganong, in his
“ Monograph of the Place-Nomenclature of New Bruns-
wick,” says:

“To find an origin for a place-name is usually easy,
but to find the true origin is often difficult and sometimes
impossible. The speculations of early writers, before the
period of critical investigation about origins, are of little
value. In cases where the form of a word is plain, but the
cause of its application obscure, contemporary history must
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be searched, and where this fails, tradition may be consulted.
But tradition is the least trustworthy of evidence, and in
affairs beyond the memory of the narrator quite as likely
to be wrong as right, while for affairs of ancient date it is
worse than valueless. This is chiefly because the mind of
man, while craving an explanation of remarkable things, is
satisfied with a reasonable explanation and does not crave
conviction as to its correctness. Hence legends, guided
chiefly by accidental resemblances between words, grow up
to explain the origin of place-names whose real origin has
been forgotten. Europe is full of such (Antwerp, Mouse
Tower on the Rhine, etc.).”

The same author says: “ Next to being able to give
the exact history of a name, it is important to give its first
recorded use, for this is a very long step towards finding
its origin.” In accordance with this instruction, the figures
printed in parentheses after the county and township names
in this book are intended to show that the names were
bestowed at or shortly before the dates given. \Where
direct statement was available it has been used, as in
Fothergill’s Almanac of 1824, the information to immi-
grants that townships named Eldon, Fenelon, Verulam,
Harvey, Douro, etc., “ are now under survey,” or in Smith’s
Canada (1851) that two ranges of townships have been
marked out west of Renfrew, and that three of these
townships have been already named, viz.: Brougham,
Wilberforce and Grattan. In other cases it has been
necessary to depend upon circumstantial evidence, such as
this: The townships of Keppel, Albemarle and St
Edmund’s do not appear on the maps in Smith’s Canada
(1851). It is known that Lord Bury, son of the Earl of
Albemarle, was in Canada in 1855, and went back to
England in 1856, and that these townships are named after
his family and their titles. Ergo, the date 1855, for the
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names Keppel, Albemarle and St. Edmund’s. Where it
is on record, and no better authority is obtainable, the date
of survey is taken from the Crown Lands Reports.

In a few cases traditions—some of them perhaps
bordering upon the absurd—have been given, in the
absence of better information, which has not been obtain-
able either by research or by correspondence. Even at the
risk of repeating “what everybody knows,” the plan of
the writer is to tell a little story about each person, place
or thing from whom or from which the county or township
name is taken—a feature which will enhance the value of
the compilation fifty years hence. When one observes
how slight is the knowledge of the present-day schoolboy
regarding the public men of the pre-Confederation period,
it is possible to estimate the mystery which will surround
some of the township names in northern Ontario half a
century after the completion of the surveyor’s work.

In the preface to his “Sketches of Upper Canada”
(1822), Robert Gourlay says: “The surveys made during
the government of the Duke of Richmond, having been
received from Upper Canada, are now added, including
more than fifty townships. The mischief done by the Duke
of Richmond in laying out so many townships for settle-
ment, and hurrying poor emigrants into the depths of the
wilderness, without thought or preparation, was infinite :
discomfort, want, ague and death.” Some of the names
conferred upon townships about that period, ¢.¢., Kaladar,
Mulmur and Garafraxa, have proved very elusive, necessi-
tating the resort to unreliable tradition which Prof.
Ganong so properly deprecates.
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GLENGARRY COUNTY (1792)

It's *“welcome Glengarry; thy Clansman’s fast friend i
It's *“ welcome to joys that shall ne’er have an end.”
The halls of great Odin are open to thee,

O ‘““welcome Glengarry, the gallant and free.”
-Sir Walter Scott.

GLENGARRY takes its name from the famous glen in
Inverness, Scotland, on the little river Garry—a charming
valley, abounding in the most fascinating scenery. It has,
in its beautiful Loch Garry, and its endless succession of
birch-clad knolls, a character quite peculiar. Near the
mouth of the Garry, and close to the loch, are the ruins of
the ancient castle of Invergarry, situated on a rock. It
was burnt by the Duke of Cumberland after the rebellion
of 1745. The chief of the Macdonnells in 1839 sold his
estate of Glenquoich to Edward Ellice, Esq., (see Ellice
township), and emigrated, along with a considerable part
of his clan, to Australia. Near Invergarry Castle a small
monument, erected by the late Colonel Macdonell of Glen-
garry, commemorates the vengeance inflicted by a former
chief of Glengarry on the murderers of the Keppoch family.
This eccentric chief was the original of the character of
Fergus Mclvor in the novel of “Waverley.” Macaulay
says that the history of the Highland clans abounds with
frightful tales, some perhaps fabulous or exaggerated, some
certainly true, of vindictive massacres and assassinations.
The Macdonalds of Glengarry, for example, having been
affronted by the people of a parish near Inverness,
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surrounded the parish church on a Sunday, shut the doors
and burned the whole congregation alive. While the
flames were raging, the hereditary musicians of the mur-
derers mocked the shrieks of the perishing crowd with the
notes of the bagpipe. The same historian describes the
Macdonald of Glengarry who flourished in the time of
William [II. as “conspicuous by his dark brow and his
lofty stature,” and adds that “none of the rulers of the
mountains had a higher sense of his personal dignity, or
was more frequently engaged in disputes with other chiefs.”
After the battle of Culloden, in 1746, many Scottish High-
landers left the land of their birth, and quite a number of
them on the invitation of Sir William Johnson found a
home in the Mohawk Valley, in the Province (now State)
of New York. When the Revolutionary war broke out,
they remained loyal to the King, and left the United
States, fighting their way to Canada and settling on the
Niagara frontier, on the Bay of Quinte and on the banks of
the St. Lawrence, where are now the counties of Glengarry
and Stormont. The last-named settlement was augmented
in the following manner. Between the years 1780 and
1790, consolidation of the small farms in the Highlands of
Scotland caused great distress to the dispossessed tenants.
Bishop McDonnell, born 1761, found employment for many
of them in the Glasgow factories, but when trade became
dull and employment failed, he got the King’s permission
to raise a Catholic regiment, which did good service in
repressing the Irish rebellion of 1798. The disbanding of
the regiment during the Peace of Amiens, 1802, again
reduced the Glengarry men to want, and the Bishop applied
for land in Canada on which they might settle. Premier
Addington (Lord Sidmouth) wanted to send them to
Trinidad, but finally the. Bishop got for every one of the
Glengarry regiment, who would consent to emigrate, a
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grant of 200 acres of land in Canada. The Bishop raised
the Glengarry Fencibles regiment for the war of 1812, and
for this and other services Earl Bathurst granted him a
salary of £600 a year, and made him the first diocesan
Catholic Bishop in the British dominions since the Refor-
mation. In 1839 Bishop McDonnell went to England with
his friend, Dr. Rolph, of Ancaster, to arrange for more
emigration of Highlanders to Canada. He died there in
1840, aged 79 years.

LANCASTER TOWNSHIP (1787)

My lord, my answer is—to Lancaster.
—King Richard II.

THIS township was named after the maritime county of
Lancaster in England, situated on the Irish Sea and noted
for the production of coal, copper, lead and iron. The title
of Duke of Lancaster has generally been borne by the
reigning sovereign since the time of John of Gaunt, and
from the property belonging to the Duchy arises a
considerable part of the land revenue of the Crown.
Lancashire is now the great seat of the cotton manufacture.
In the town of Lancaster a fortress existed in Saxon times,
which was destroyed by the Picts and Scots. During the
civil wars between the rival Houses of York and [.ancaster,
the town suffered so much that it was nearly depopulated.
The castle was used in modern times as a county jail.
The selection of the township name, Lancaster, was doubt-
less intended as a compliment to King George 11, Duke
of Lancaster. On Patrick McNiff’s map, made for Sir John
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Johnson, Nov. 1, 1786, Lancaster is called the * Lake
Township,” and the five river townships west of Lancaster
were numbered but not named. The present names of
these townships appear, however, in Lord Dorchester’s
proclamation of 17388.

CHARLOTTENBURG TOWNSHIP (1787)

Charlotte, having seen his body
Borne before her on a shutter,
Like a well-conducted person,
Went on cutting bread and butter.
—W. M. Thackeray.

PROBABLY because some German soldiers, who had
fought on the British side in the war of the American
Revolution, settled within its limits, this township was
named after the town of Charlottenburg in the Prussian
Province of Brandenburg, on the bank of the river Spree,
connected with Berlin by a fine promenade—a place which
takes its name from Sophia Dorothea Charlotte, the queen
of Frederick William I., who in 1706 caused a palace to be
built there. She was a daughter of George 1., of England.
Frederick the Great added a new chateau, and endowed it
with a valuable gallery of art, which was injured by the
Austrians in 1760.
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LOCHIEL TOWNSHIP (1816)

Lochiel, Lochiel, beware of the day
When the Lowland shall meet you in battle array.
—Campbell.

LOCHIEL township was cut off from the northern part
of Lancaster in the year 1816.

“Eye witnesses describe murders perpetrated by the
direct command of the Duke of Cumberland—wounded
on the field ordered to be shot—one man hanged by his
orders, without even the ceremony of investigation or trial
—another lashed to the limit of physical endurance—
others hacked with the broad sword to death. The country
was laid waste with fire and sword. The castles of Lovat,
Glengarry and Lochiel were burnt. Huts and hovels were
destroyed ; without distinction of age, or sex, or rank,
without proof of guilt or the existence of suspicion, the
miserable inhabitants were shot like wild beasts upon their
mountains, or driven with their cattle to be butchered with
them in the south, while naked women were compelled to
ride on horses, and were thereafter violated.”—Forbes’
Jacobite Memoirs.

«The virtues of Duncan Forbes and of Colonel Gardiner
shed a lustre on the scene disgraced by the Duke of
Cumberland and his myrmidons ; the generous devotion of
Lochiel elevates a party for which such a victim as Lovat
died.”—North British Review.

Achnacarry, the mansion of Lochiel, chief of the Clan
Cameron, is delightfully situated, and completely em-
bosomed in wood. Close beside the present building are
the walls of the old mansion, burned by the Duke of
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Cumberland in 1746. The banks of the Loch Lochy are
frequented by herds of Lochiel’s celebrated red deer. A
small wooded island at the lower end of the lake has been
for ages the burying place of the family of Lochiel. Their
name was originally MacMartin, but they adopted the
name Cameron on the marriage of a daughter of their
chief with a gentleman named Camarriens or Chambers.
Sir Evan Cameron, whom Byron, in his note to Childe
Harold, calls the “gentle Lochiel of the forty-five,” was,
according to Macaulay, “in personal qualities unrivalled
among the Celtic princes. He was a gracious master, a
trusty ally, a terrible enemy. His countenance and bearing
were singularly noble. In person and manner Lochiel
resembled Louis XI1V. of France, but in stature the differ-
ence was great. Lochiel was tall and strongly built, and
had few equals in agility and skill at his weapons, nor was:
he less distinguished by intellectual than by bodily vigor.”

KENYON TOWNSHIP (1798)

Lord Kenyon'’s respected old father (like many

Respected old fathers) was fond of a penny.
—Moore.

KENYON township takes its name from ILloyd, Lord
Kenyon, born at Gredington, in Flintshire, 1732, died
1802. He was the son of a Welsh squire, called to the
bar in 1756; he attracted the attention of Lord Thurlow,
who appointed him Chief Justice of Cheshire. In 1782 he
was made Attorney-General, and two years later Master of
the Rolls. On the retirement of Lord Mansfield, in 1738,



GLENGARRY COUNTY 15

Pitt made Kenyon Chief Justice of the King’s Bench,
with the title of Lord Kenyon, Baron of Gredington. He
was disliked by the bar for his overbearing disposition
and insolent manners, but favored by the public on
account of the rigid impartiality of his decisions, and his
profound knowledge of the law. He accumulated by his
professional labors a fortune of £300,000. Lord Kenyon
on the Bench had no respect for class distinctions, and
his severe judgments in certain gambling cases were most
effective in checking that destructive vice, which had
become so prevalent that the very houses of the nobility
were turned into common gambling houses.

There is a village called Kenyon, in Lancashire, Eng-
land, 13 miles from Manchester.

E.
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STORMONT COUNTY (1792)

And well he knew that maiden’s love
Is by such lone endearments won,
And much he feared that Athol’s lord

Erol and Stormont would o’er-run.
—Ballad of King Gregory.

STORMONT county was so called in honor of David
Murray, seventh Viscount Stormont and second Earl of
Mansfield, born in 1727, buried in Westminster Abbey in
1796. He was Justice General of Scotland, joint clerk of
the Court of King’s Bench, Ambassador Extraordinary to
Austria and France, a Secretary of State and President of
the Privy Council. By his first wife, Viscount Stormont
had one daughter, who married George Finch-Hatton,
M.P., in 17835, and became the mother of George William
Finch-Hatton, ninth Earl of Winchilsea. By his second
wife, a daughter of Lord Cathcart, Viscount Stormont had
four sons, the eldest of whom, David William Murray, third
Earl of Mansfield, married Frederica, daughter of Most
Rev. William Markham, D.D., Archbishop of York (see
Markham township); and their son William David Murray,
fourth Earl of Mansfield, born in 18c6, lived till August 2,
1898, and was known as the Father of the House of Lords.
He was elected to the House of Commons in 1830, and
occupied a seat in that chamber until his succession to the
peerage in 1840.

The first Earl of Mansfield, William Murray, born 1705,
died 1793, was an uncle of Viscount Stormont, the second
Earl. He was Attorney-General in 1754 and Chief Justice

’}K
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of the King’s Bench, 1756-88. His wife was Lady Eliza-
beth Finch, daughter of the sixth Earl of Winchilsea. It
was of the first Lord Mansfield that Junius wrote: “No
learned man, even among your own tribe, thinks you
qualified to preside in a court of common law.” His house
was ransacked during the Gordon riots. Lord Mansfield
decided that a slave setting foot on the soil of England
thereby attained his liberty.

The title of Stormont, which dates from 1621, was
taken from Stormont Loch and the beautiful district of
Stormont in Perthshire. The seat of the family is Scone
Palace, near Perth,an immense modern building occupying
the site of the ancient palace of the kings of Scotland.
Charles I1. was crowned in the old edifice in 1651, and the
Chevalier de St. George in 1715. Much of the old
furniture has been preserved in the modern house, including
a bed used by King James V1., and some of the handiwork
of Queen Mary of Scotland.

CORNWALL TOWNSHIP (1787)

Or has thy good woman, if one thou hast,
Ever here in Cornwall been ?
For, an’ if she have, I'll venture my life
She has drank of the Well of St. Keyne.
—Southey.

THIS township takes its name from Cornwall, the most
westerly county in Britain, which is nearly surrounded by
the sea. From its soil and climate, Cornwall is apparently
one of the least inviting of the English counties, but among
its mineral products are tin, copper, lead, silver, gold,

2
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cobalt, arsenic, antimony, soap rock and china stone, as
well as topaz and asbestos. Tradition regards Cornwall as
the birthplace of the renowned King Arthur, who suc-
ceeded his father about the year 3516, and who was
immediately engaged in warfare against the Saxons, with
whom he fought twelve battles. In the reign of Athelstan,
A.D. 968, all Cornwall was subjugated by the Saxons, after
soo years of strife. Macaulay describes the people of
Cornwall two hundred years ago as a fierce, bold and
athletic race, among whom there was a stronger provincial
feeling than in any other part of the realm. - The title of
Duke of Cornwall has been borne by the eldest son of the
reigning sovereign since the time of Edward the Black
Prince, 1337. The selection of the name for this township
was a compliment to the Prince of Wales, afterwards King
George IV.

Dr. Scadding says that Cornwall township is named
after an English family, and not after the English county.
Captain James Cornwall, R.N., was killed, off Toulon, in
1743. His monument is in Westminster Abbey. This
theory, unsupported by explanation or argument, appears
improbable. If the township was named after a man, it
would more likely be Right Hon. C. W. Cornwall, M.P. for
Rye, who was Speaker of the House of Commons in 1784
and also in 1791, when the division on the Canada Bill was
recorded. Sir George Cornwall, M.P. for Herefordshire,
voted against the bill.
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OSNABRUCK TOWNSHIP (1787)

The sin, the crying sin, of rambling
Where Osnaburgh’s good Bishop, gambling,

Lost some few golden feathers from his wings.
—P. Pindar.

THIS township was called after Osnabruck, a town and
province in Hanover, belonging to the House of Bruns-
wick, where George I. was born. Until 1802, Osnabruck
was a bishopric, having been founded by Charlemagne.
The last hereditary bishop, Frederick, Duke of York, son
of King George IIl, ceded Osnabruck (also called
Osnaburg) to Hanover, the office of a bishop being by no
means appropriate to a man of his character and habits.
The selection of the township name was intended as a
compliment to Prince Frederick.

ROXBOROUGH TOWNSHIP (1798)

Once more the battle closes fierce and far,
And Tweed's soft murmur dies in shouts of war,
Round Roxburgh’s walls lie leaguring hosts again—

And Ancrum’s moor is swept with sanguine rain.
— William Wye Smith.

THIS township took its name from Roxburghshire, a
border county of Scotland, very rich in remains of monastic
magnificence. In the days of border warfare, it was the
scene &f many a bloody fight, and Sir Walter Scott has
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made many of its traditions familiar to the world. Rox-
burgh Castle was dismantled 400 years ago, and only a
few fragments of the walls remain. James II. of Scotland
was killed while besieging it.

Right Hon. John Ker, third Duke of Roxburgh, was
an intimate friend of King George I11., whose affection for
him was continually displayed, and with whom he may be
said to have lived on terms of cordial and friendly intimacy.
This friendship explains the selection of the township
name. His Majesty had, in early life, promised to bestow
upon the Duke the office of Keeper of the Great Seal of
Scotland, and when Secretary of State Dundas insisted
upon the appointment being given to the Duke of Gordon,
there was a lively dispute between the King and his
Minister. The Duke of Roxburgh introduced turnip
husbandry, which amazingly improved his estates and
increased his rental. He became a great collector of rare
books, and after his death the sale of his library occupied
forty-two days and produced above £22,000, the Marquis
of Blandford paying £2,260 for a 1471 edition of the
“« Decamerone di Boccaccio,” which was afterwards sold to
Earl Spencer for £800. The Duke died in 1804, and the
lawyers reaped a rich harvest from the long litigation over
his will.

FINCH TOWNSHIP (:798)

Finch was a younger brother’s youngest son,
Who pleased an uncle with his song and gun.
—Crabbe.
FINCH township takes its name from Lady Elizabeth
Finch, the aunt, or George Finch-Hatton, the son-in-law of
Viscount Stormont. )
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DUNDAS COUNTY (1792)

And ane, a chap that’s real auldfarran,

Dundas his name.
~—Burns.

Keep London still-——no matter how they carp—
Well, well, go back, and bid Dundas look sharp.
—Peter Pindar.

THIS county is called after Henry Dundas, Viscount
Melville, son of Right Hon. Robert Dundas, born 1741,
died 1811, who was a Minister under Rockingham,
Shelburne and Pitt, Secretary of State both for the Home
Department and for War, and whose name appears
frequently as the writer and receiver of letters relating to
Canada in the Archives. The Dundases of Arniston were
descended from George Dundas, of Dundas, sixteenth in
descent from the Dunbars, Earls of March. Macaulay
describes King George III. as telling Henry Dundas to
“keep his Scotch metaphysics to himself,” when the
Minister tried to persuade the King that it would be right
to relieve the Catholics of their political disabilities. He
also says that Henry Dundas, the Lord Advocate of
Scotland, was “an able and versatile politician,” and in
speaking of Pitt’s niggardly treatment of literary men,
Macaulay says: “ Even Dundas, who made no pretensions
to literary taste, and was content to be considered as a
hard-headed and somewhat coarse man of business, made
Robert Burns an exciseman, with £70 a year; and this
was more than Pitt, during his long term of office, did for
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the encouragement of letters” Dundas became Lord
Melville and was dismissed from office and impeached for
peculation, “ though few believed that he himself profited
by the scandalous dishonesty which prevailed in his office.”
After his trial, Lord Melville retired into private life and
died at Edinburgh. His first wife was Elizabeth Rennie ;
his second, Lady Jane Hope, sister of Lord Hopetoun,
who afterwards married Lord Wallace (see Wallace town-
ship). A handsome monument, 136 feet high, with a
statue fourteen feet high, was erected by subscription in
Edinburgh to the memory of Lord Melville, who “ never,
in the exercise of his patronage, overlooked the claims of
his own countrymen.” A friendly biographer says he
“ possessed all the good and high qualifications which are
boasted of as peculiar to Scotsmen, besides others not
always allied with them.” Dr. Doran, in his book on
“ Habits and Men,” published in 1854, says: “ We read
now with something of wonder, of Charles Fox and the
Prince of Wales getting drunk tete-a-tete in St. James
street, and of Pitt and Dundas riding home in the same
happy state from Addiscombe, bilking the turnpikes and
being fired at for highwaymen.”

WILLIAMSBURG TOWNSHIP (1787)

But see a beauty in King William’s days,
With that long waist, and those enormous stays.
~—Crabbe,

THIS township was named in honor of Prince William
Henry, third son of King George IIIL., born 1765, who
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succeeded his brother George on the throne, as King
William IV, in 1830, and died in 1837. At the age of
fourteen he was entered as midshipman on the Prince
George, of ninety-eight guns, under Admiral Digby. He
saw rough service in the Bay of Biscay against the Spanish
and French fleets, and in 1781 was attached to the fleet
sent to the relief of Gibraltar, which succeeded in landing
the provisions and gunpowder under a tremendous
cannonade. Under Lord Hood and Lord Nelson he served
on the American coast, visiting Jamaica, Havana, Louisiana,
Boston and Quebec. The town of Sorel, at the mouth of
the Richelieu River, was called William Henry in his
honor. In 1789, Prince William Henry was created Duke
of Clarence and Earl of Munster. In 1811 he succeeded
Sir William Parker as Admiral of the fleet. In 1818 the
Duke of Clarence married Her Serene Highness Adelaide
Amelia Louisa Theresa Caroline, Princess of Saxe
Meinengen (see Adelaide township). As a child, Prince
William was “the pet of the royal household. His gambols
relaxed the cares of majesty and relieved the ceremonious-
ness of courts.” As a sailor, according to Lord Nelson,
the Prince “had his foibles, as well as private men, but
they were far overbalanced by his virtues” He paid
attention to orders, showed respect to his superior officer,
kept up strict discipline in his ship, which, Nelson wrote,
was one of the finest frigates he had seen. As King,
William IV., “a simple, genial sailor, walked in London
streets, with his umbrella under his arm, frankly shook
hands with old acquaintances, and was a favorite with the
people.” Stockmar’s description of Prince William was:
“Duke of Clarence—the smallest and least good-looking
of the brothers ; decidedly like his mother ; as talkative as
the rest.”
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MATILDA TOWNSHIP (1787)

Yet all Matilda could, she gave
In pity to her gentle slave.
—Rokeby.

MATILDA township was named after the Princess
Royal, Charlotte Augusta Matilda, born 1766, died 1828 ;
first daughter of King George III. She married, in 1797,
Frederick, King of Wurtemburg. Frederick William, the
hereditary Prince of Wurtemburg, had been married before,
and there was a mysterious rumor about the manner of
the death of his first wife. When the Princess Royal of
England had been married to him by the Archbishop of
Canterbury, and they were about to leave England, “the
Princess hung upon her father’s neck overwhelmed in
grief, and it was not until her consort urged her to close
the painful scene, that she could be prevailed on to leave
her father. This was to be the beginning of a sad and
disastrous life, during which the Princess acquitted herself
with all the fortitude of a daughter of her house.”
Napoleon made her husband King of Wurtemburg, and
the Princess, hating the French Emperor as only an
English woman could, was obliged to treat him with
civility to save her husband’s kingdom. In letters written
by her after her husband’s death, she professed great
attachment to him, and hoped to meet him in a. better
world.  In 1821, she wrote: “God grant that we may see
Great Britain again loyal and happy, as it was in former
times, before the mania of democracy had more or less
spread in every country of Europe.”
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WINCHESTER TOWNSHIP (1798)

Have patience, noble duke ; I may not open ;
The Cardinal of Winchester forbids.
—Kiny Henry VL.

WINCHESTER township was named after the city in
Hampshire, England, which was the home and capital of
King Alfred the Great, and where he and King Canute
were buried. The English Winchester is situated on the
river Itchen. It was called by the Britons Caer Gwent, or
the White City, from its being built on a chalky soil.
Previous to the Christian era, that part of England was
invaded, and the inhabitants extirpated or reduced to
slavery, by a tribe from Belgic Gaul, who made Winchester
their metropolis, till they were in turn conquered by the
Romans. Near the city have been discovered sepulchral
urns, coins and other Roman antiquities. Among the
petty native princes who exercised a delegated authority
under the Romans was Lucius, who lived in the second
century and is supposed by some to have been the third in
descent from the celebrated Caradock, or Caractacus, (see
Caradoc township), and to have reigned at Winchester.
He introduced Christianity and erected a cathedral church.
At a subsequent period, the British prince Vortigern also
made Winchester his capital, and Cedric the Saxon did
the same. A memorial of Winchester’s ancient superiority
over London as the capital city remains in the denomination
of measures, as Winchester ells and Winchester quarts.
After the Norman conquest, Winchester was frequently the
residence of the sovereign. William Rufus was crowned
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there, and in his time the city had a royal mint, treasury
and public record office, and likewise a royal palace and
two strong castles, one for the King and the other for the
Bishop. Henry 1II., son of King John, was born at
Winchester, as was Prince Arthur, son of Henry VII.
Hyde Abbey at Winchester was founded by Alfred the
Great, and there he died and was buried. Winchester is
entitled to be the centre of all the homage the whole
empire may pay to the memory of the first King of United
England, the real founder of the present world-wide
empire. One thousand years ago, King Alfred freed
England from foreign domination and made it a united
kingdom. He founded schools and began the intellectual
life of the English people. He introduced into England
the system of accurate measurement of time. He founded
the foreign commerce of England. He gave the English-
speaking world its common law. He fought fifty-six
battles by sea and land. He reigned for thirty years, and
died leaving a private name and a public record unsullied
and unstained, but luminous with such glory as few
monarchs in any land or age have won or merited.

MOUNTAIN TOWNSHIP (1798)

MOUNTAIN township was named in honor of the Right
Rev. Jacob Mountain, D.D., first Protestant Bishop of
Quebec, born at Thwaite Hall, Norfolk, England, in 1750,
died at Marchmont, the seat of General Sir John Harvey
(see Harvey township) near Quebec, in 1825. The family
was originally a French Protestant one, and the name was
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Montaigne. Dr. Mountain attended Caius College, Cam-
bridge, and was a friend of Mr. Pitt. In 1781 he married
Miss Eliza Kentish, of Essex County, by whom he had
four sons and two daughters. In 1793 he was appointed
Bishop of Quebec, there being at that time only six
clergymen in Lower Canada and three in Upper Canada.
He was the father and the founder of the Anglican
Church in British North America, and performed impor-
tant services as a member of the Executive and Legislative
Councils. In the former capacity he sat frequently in the
Court of Appeals.

His son, George Jehoshaphat Mountain, D.D., born in
1789, was consecrated Bishop of Montreal in 1836, and
was for many years Bishop of Quebec. He visited the
Red River settlements in 1844, and in 1849 ministered to
the fever-stricken immigrants at Grosse Isle, as he had
done to those affected by the cholera in 1832-34. The
second Bishop Mountain was the founder of Bishop’s
College, Lennoxville, Que.

Colonel Arminie Simcoe Henry Mountain, another son
of the first Bishop, born at Quebec, 1797, spoke and wrote
most of the European and several of the Oriental tongues.
He served in India under Sir Colin Halkett, Lord William
Bentinck, Lord Gough and Lord Dalhousie. He died of
fever in 1854, near Cawnpore.

According to Lord Durham’s report, 12,000 acres of
Crown lands were granted to Dr. Mountain, Bishop of
Quebec.
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GRENVILLE COUNTY (1792)

Who, 1 doubt not, will write (as there’s no time to lose)
By the twopenny post to tell Grenville the news.

—Moove.

THIS county was named in honor of William Wyndham
Grenville, born in 1759, died 1834. He was elected to the
House of Commons in 1782, chosen Speaker in 1789,
appointed Secretary of State for the Home Department
and created Baron Grenville in 1790, Secretary of State
for Foreign Affairs 1791-1801, First Lord of the Treasury
in 1806. He voted in favor of the Canada Bill. He was
a brother of George Grenville, third Earl Temple, who was
created Marquis of Buckingham in 1784, and who was
Lord Lieutenant of Ireland; a cousin of Right Hon.
William Pitt, whom he assisted in promoting the Union
with Ireland, but whose second Government he opposed
until Mr. Pitt’s death, when he united with Mr. Fox to
form the short-lived Government of “ All the Talents.”
Lord Grenville labored hard for Catholic Emancipation
and thus incurred the violent dislike of King George 111,
who summarily dismissed him and the other Ministers who
formed the Government. Lord Grenville once said in the
British House of Lords, a body to which the Canadian
Senate has sometimes been compared: “ My Lords, you
possess the power, a great power, for good. But there is
a power which you do not possess—any more than the
House of Commons, any more than the constitutional
sovereigns of this country—you have not the power to
treat with contempt the national will when it is legitimately
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and constitutionally expressed.” Lord Grenville’s father,
George Grenville, born 1712, died 1770, a brother-in-law
of William Pitt, first Earl of Chatham, was the reputed
author of the famous Stamp Act, which was the immediate
cause of the revolt of the American Colonies. He entered
Parliament in 1741, was Chancellor of the Exchequer and
First Lord of the Treasury in 1763, his brother, Lord
Temple, being with Mr. Pitt in the opposition, but in 1765
Mr. Grenville resigned the Premiership, giving place to
Lord Rockingham. “Grenville himself was ploddingly
industrious and not without financial ability, but his mind
was narrow and pedantic in its tone. Grenville had no
mind to change his plans. In February, 1765, the Stamp
Act was passed through both Houses with less opposition
than a turnpike bill. ¢t this critical moment Pitt was
absent from the House of Commons, ill. It was wittily
said, at a later day, that Mr. Grenville lost America
because he read the American despatches, which none of
his predecessors ever did.”—Green. The Grenville family
are well housed in a magnificent mansion at Stowe, in
Buckinghamshire, the construction of which was begun
more than two hundred years ago by Sir Richard Temple,
who died in 1697. The edifice was enlarged by Lord
Cobham and his descendants for several generations, until
the entire front of the building is now 916 feet in length,
the surrounding pleasure grounds covering 500 acres.
The saloon is an oval of sixty by forty feet, encircled by
Scagliola columns in imitation of Sicilian jasper, sur-
mounted by a magnificent frieze in alto-relievo, consisting
of more than 300 figures, representing the procession of a
Roman triumph and sacrifice ; the floor is of white Carrara
marble in four-feet squares. In the manuscript library are
some curiously carved chairs in ebony and ivory, which
belonged to Cardinal Wolsey.
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EDWARDSBURG TOWNSHIP (1787)

Which done, God take King Edward to his mercy,

And leave the world for me to bustle in.
—King Richard 111,

THIS township was named in honor of Prince Edward,
Duke of Kent. (See Prince Edward County).

AUGUSTA TOWNSHIP (1787)

Princes and Princesses I like, so loyal—
Great George's children are my great delight ;
The sweet Augusta, and sweet Princess Royal,

Obtain my love by day, and pray'rs by night.
—Peter Pindar.

THIS township was called after Princess Augusta
Sophia, second daughter of King George III, born in
1768, died unmarried in 1840. Queen Charlotte was not
as good a hand to find husbands for her daughters as
some Royal mothers have been. The Princess Royal in
one of her letters speaks of Augusta’s great shyness. As
a letter writer herself, Augusta was, in her youth, impulsive
and affectionate, pouring out her thoughts with a spon-
taneous warmth that lent a graphic literary power to her
productions. She got the better of her shyness in time,
for when the poet Moore visited the Princesses, Augusta
went to the piano and played for him some new airs she
had composed to his words. They chatted about Lord
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Kenyon’s stinginess (see Kenyon township), and Augusta
told how her father used to send despatches to Lord
Kenyon after seven o’clock, when he knew that the judge
would have gone to bed to save candle-light. When
Prince Edward died, Princess Augusta wrote: “God
knows what is for the best, and I hope I bow with
submission to this, my severe trial; but when 1 think of
his poor, miserable wife and his innocent, fatherless
child, it nearly breaxs my heart. She has conducted
herself like an angel. She quite adored poor Edward, and
they were truly blessed in cach other.”

SOUTH GOWER TOWNSHIP (1798)

To sing a song of old was sung,
From ashes ancient Gower is come.
—Pericles, Prince of Tyre,

GOWER township took its name from Admiral the
Hon. John Leveson Gower, second son of the first Earl
Gower, born 1740, died 1792, who distinguished himself as
the Commander of Quebec and at the relief of Gibraltar,
1782 ; and was Lord of the Admiralty, 1783-89. When
Prince William was third lieutenant of the Hebe frigate in
1785, the Hon. John Leveson Gower hoisted his broad
pennant on board, and proceeded on a cruise round Great
Britain. His Royal Highness on that occasion saw more
of his native country than any British monarch had ever
seen before. Sir Granville, second Earl Gower, elder
brother of the preceding, born 1721, created Marquis of
Stafford 1786, died 1803, was a member of the House of
Commons and filled various Ministerial offices 1744-54 ;
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was President of the Privy Council 1768-79 and 1783-94.
Earl Gower and Hon. J. L.. Gower both voted in favor of the
Canada Bill. Earl Gower’s son, George Granville Gower,
second Marquis of Stafford (see Stafford township), became
Duke of Sutherland, and his second son became Earl and
Viscount Granville. The second son of the first Duke of
Sutherland (grandson of Earl Gower, first Marquis of
Stafford), became Earl of Ellesmere. The poet Gower,
contemporary with Chaucer, was born at Swansea, in
Glamorganshire.

OXFORD TOWNSHIP (1798)

The King to Oxford sent a troop of horse,
For Tories own no argument but force ;
With equal skill to Cambridge books he sent,

For Whigs admit no force but argument.
—Sir William Browne,

THIS township was called Oxford on the Rideau, to
distinguish it from Oxford on the Thames. (See Oxford
county).

WOLFORD TOWNSHIP (1797)

Wolford in Devon, where brave Simcoe sleeps,
Whose name in proud respect Ontario keeps.
—Charles Dever.
THIS township was named after Wolford,a property
belonging to Governor Simcoe, near Homiton, in Devon-
shire. He was buried at his domestic chapel at Wolford.
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A monument to his memory, by Flaxman, was erected in
Exeter Cathedral. Dr. Scadding, in “Toronto of Old,”
mentions Captain J. K. Simcoe, R.N,, of Wolford, in the
county of Devon. In the Archives, there is mention of a
letter from J. G. Simcoe to John King, dated Wolford
Lodge, May 2, 1802, recommending the appointment of
Mr. Bouchette (as Surveyor General) and asking that the
letter be laid before Lord Hobart.
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LEEDS COUNTY (1792)

Leeds is as stiff as any stake

And leaner, Dick, than any rake ;

Envy is not so pale;

And though, by selling of us all,

He has wrought himself in to Whiteball,
He looks like bird of gaol.

THIS county was called after Francis Godolphin
Osborne, the fifth Duke of Leeds, who was Secretary of
State for the Home Department in the Shelburne Govern-
ment in 1783, and whose wife, Lady Amelia D’Arcy,
eloped with “mad Jack Byron,” father of Lord Byron,
the poet. The present holder of the title (1898) was
mentioned as a possible successor of Lord Aberdeen as
Governor-General of Canada, but objection was raised
because he is proprietor of a gin distillery. The founder
of this noble family was Edward Osborne, the young
apprentice to Sir William Hewett, who jumped from
London Bridge to save the infant daughter of his master.
Osborne subsequently married the daughter, and later
became Lord Maydr and member of Parliament for the
city. The man who made the wealth of the family was
Sir Thomas Osborne, the first Duke, who was a Minister
under Charles II., was impeached by the House of
Commons and imprisoned in the Tower, but who became
the chief Minister of William III. It took him little more
than twenty years to climb from the station of a Yorkshire
country gentleman to the highest rank in the peerage.
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Macaulay says that while the motion for his impeachment
was under discussion, Leeds proceeded to tell, with great
complacency, a story of himself which would, in our days,
drive a public man, not only from office, but out of the
society of gentlemen. Large tracts of Crown lands were
bestowed upon him. Though rich in money and lands,
fceds’ “frame was meagre, and his face, handsome and
intellectual as it was, had a haggard look which indicated
the restlessness of pain as well as the restlessness of
ambition,” inciting the Whigs to sing about him the verse
quoted above. The city of Leeds, from which the Osborne
family takes its title of Duke, is in the West Riding of
Yorkshire, and is noted for its manufactures of clothing,
tobacco, earthenware, iron, brass, mustard, etc. Of the
castle of Leeds, which was besieged by King Stephen in
1139, and in which Richard II. was confined in 1399, no
trace now remains. A suburb of the city of Leeds bears
the name of Woodhouse (see Woodhouse township).

ELIZABETHTOWN TOWNSHIP (1784)

Thus when Elizabeth desired
That Melville would acknowledge fairly,
Whether herself he most admired
Or his own mistress, Lady Mary,
The puzzled knight his answer thus exprest,
‘“ In her own country each is handsomest.”
—A Courtier's Response.

THis township was named after Princess Elizabeth,
third daughter of King George III, born in 1770, died
1840. She was married in 1818 to Frederick Joseph
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Louis, reigning I.andgrave of Hesse Homburg, who died
in 1829. Princess Elizabeth was grave in her manners,
affectionate to her friends and devoted to her parents, with
whom she remained until her forty-ninth year, when she
was married. In one of her letters, when a young woman,
she expressed her impatience with Court quarrels, and
wished she were the wife of some younger son. Her
husband, the Landgrave, is described as a gross, corpulent
German, of enormous dimensions, and always smelling of
tobacco. His appearance and manners were ridiculed, one
of the charges against him being that he snored at theatres.
But there is nothing to show that Princess Elizabeth was
ever dissatisfied with her “catch.” Mrs. Trench wrote:
“The Princess of Hesse Homburg will redeem the
character of good behavior in conjugal bonds, lost or
mislaid by her family. She is delighted with her hero, as
she calls him.” Her sisters used to visit her in her German
home, and found her happy and contented, leading a
decent, though quiet life.

YONGE TOWNSHIP (1786)

Whilst Yonge still prompts me to enlarge my views,

And bids me soar with no ignoble flight.
—Polwhele.

THE township was named after Right Hon. Sir George
Yonge, born 1732, M.P. for Honiton, in the County of
Devon, from 1763 to 1796. He was a member of the
Shelburne Government in 1783, and Secretary of War
from 1782 to 1794. Dr. Scadding says that Sir George
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Yonge was a personal friend of Governor Simcoe. He
died at Hampton Court in 1812,and the Baronetcy became
extinct. The Canadian Archives refer to many letters
written by Haldimand to Sir George Yonge 1782:85. He
voted for the Canada Bill.

ESCOTT TOWNSHIP (1840)

EScOTT was called after the residence of the Yonge
family at Escott, Devonshire. Miss Amelia Yonge,
daughter of Sir William Yonge, Bart., of Escott, Devon,
became the second .wife of Sir Edward Lloyd, Secretary of
War, who died in 1795. Escott township was at one time
called the Gore of Yonge. The name is on the map of
1851, but not on the map of 1836.

LANSDOWNE TOWNSHIP (1788)

If Lansdowne will consent to share
My humble feast, though rude the fare.

—Moore.
THIS township took its name from the title of William
Fitzmaurice, second Earl of Shelburne, born 1737, died
1805, to whom Haldimand sent many reports on Canadian
affairs. He sat in the House of Commons in 1761 for
Chipping Wycombe ; was a Major-General in the army in
1765 ; a principal Secretary of State 1766 ; First Lord of
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the Treasury 1782 ; created Marquis of Lansdowne 1784.
Speaking of George Grenville’s Government (1763), Green
says: “Its one man of ability was Lord Shelburne, a
young Irishman, who had served with credit at Minden.”

But Shelburne did not show his ability in concluding
the Treaty of Peace with America. More incompetent
representatives of English and Canadian interests than the
two men to whom the negotiations were chiefly entrusted
(Messrs. Oswald and Vaughan) could hardly have been
found if Lord Shelburne had searched the country through.
“ Lord Shelburne and his colleagues can, of course, never
be freed from the discredit which attaches to such
bargaining. With them the blame primarily lies for the
generous endowment of the Republic with the gigantic
boundaries on the south, west and north which so largely
determined its future power and influence.”

It has always been believed that Iord Shelburne,
afterwards Marquis of Lansdowne, was connected with the
composition of the Letters of Junius. Sir Richard Phillips
talked to the Marquis of Lansdowne about it only a week
before the latter’s death. The Marquis smiled and said :
“No, no, I am not equal to Junius, I could not be the
author; but the grounds for secrecy are now so far
removed by death that it is unnecessary the author of
Junius should much longer be unknown. I knew Junius,
and I knew all about the writing and production of these
letters. But look at my condition, I don’t think I can live
a week. If [ live over the summer, which, however, |
don’t expect, I will set that question at rest forever, and I
will put my name to it. None of the parties ever guessed
at as Junius was the true Junius.”
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LEEDS TOWNSHIP (1783)

When of importance braggeth simple Leeds,
When Gloster’s far-fam’d wife for meekness pleads.
—P, Pindar.

See Leeds County.

KITLEY TOWNSHIP (1798)

IS called after Kitley, near Yeolhampton, in South
Devon, the seat of the Bastard family. Worth’s History
of Devonshire says: “Kitley is now the chief seat of the
ancient family of Bastard, which claim descent from the
Robert Bastard who appears in ¢ Domesday ’ as the holder
of nine manors. They obtained Kitley by marriage with
the heiress of the Pol]exfens,']:dmund Pollexfen, the last
male of the family, dying in 1710.”

Pollexfen was a Whig barrister, who defended Richard
Baxter on his trial before Judge Jeffries, who was on that
occasion in one of his violent and insulting moods.
Macaulay says that Pollexfen, who had long been at the
head of the Western circuit and who had incurred
unpopularity by holding briefs for the Crown at the
Bloody Assizes and by appearing against Alice Lisle,
was known to be at heart a Whig, if not a Republican.
Under King William III. he was Attorney-General and
then Chief Justice of the Common Pleas.
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BASTARD TOWNSHIP (1798)

———

Is called after the name of a well-known ancient
Devonshire family which resided in modern times at
Kitley, near Plymouth. (See Kitley township). Thomas
Bastard, A.B., divine and poet, was born at Blandford
Forum, in Dorsetshire. John Pollexfen Bastard, M.P. for
Devonshire, voted against the Canada Bill in 1791.

CROSBY TOWNSHIP (1798)

% \ When you have done, repair to Crosby place.
—King Richard I11.

THIS township may be called after any of the eight
villages of that name in England, the largest of which is in
Lancashire, six miles from Liverpool; or after Crosby
Hall, an ancient residence fronting on Crosby Square in
London, England ; or after Lieut. W. Crosby, mentioned
in the Canadian Archives as being superintendent,in 1778,
of the armed storeship Andrew, which was located in the
Richelieu River ; or (and most likely) after Brass Crosby,
Lord Mayor of London and M.P. for Honiton in 147,741,
whose short imprisonment in the Tower on the order of
the King and Parliament came very near causing a bloody
conflict between the citizens of London and the Parlia-
mentary supporters of Lord North. See Trevelyan’s Life
of Fox for a full account of Crosby’s conduct in that
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matter. The fact that Brass Crosby and Sir George
Yonge were both Members of Parliament for Honiton, and
that the latter was a friend of Governor Simcoe, makes it
probable that the township was named after Brass Crosby.

SOUTH BURGESS TOWNSHIP (1798)

Great was thy Evening Cluster,—often graced

With Dollond—Burgess—and Sir Humphry Davy.
—T. Hood.

THIS township was called after Rev. Thomas Burgess,
a fellow student at Oxford with Premier Addington, who
appointed him Bishop of Salisbury. Bishop Burgess was
the author of about 100 publications on theology, slavery
and other topics. James B. Burgess, M.P. for Helston,
voted for Pitt’s Canada Bill.

SOUTH ELMSLEY TOWNSHIP (1798)

ELMSLEY takes its name from Chief Justice William
Elmsley, who died in 1805, aged forty-two, leaving a large
family. The Archives contain applications from his
widow, Mary, for a grant of land; also that the Govern-
ment should buy his residences in Quebec, York and
Newark for military or other public purposes. It would
appear that the Chief Justice was not altogether unsuc-
cessful in acquiring land in his lifetime, for Lord Durham
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in his report quotes Mr. Radenhurst as saying that Chief
Justices Elmsley and Powell purchased from 20,800 to
50,000 acres, at prices ranging from a gallon of rum up to
£6 per 200 acres, and the Elmsley property in Toronto
has long been valuable. Chief Justice Elmsley was a
brother of the celebrated classical critic and editor, Peter
Elmsley, of Oxford, and. a son-in-law of Mr. Benjamin
Hallowell. (See Hallowell township). Dr. Scadding
mentions that his son and heir, Captain John Elmsley,
became a convert to the Church of Rome, and deeded
land from his estate for St. Basil’s College, Toronto. The
younger Elmsley was a warm supporter of Sir Francis
Bond Head during his Governorship, and is mentioned in
Head’s Narrative. Lord Elgin took up his residence at
Elmsley Villa when he moved to Toronto after the
destruction of the Parliament Buildings in Montreal.

These five counties along the St. Lawrence River have
retained the size and shape in which they were surveyed
near the end of the eighteenth century, except that
Grenville and Leeds had originally three rows of town-
ships; now they have two. The land west of Yonge
township not being so good as that further east, there was
a break in the settlement at that point, which began again
at Kingston and extended westward. It will be convenient
to notice first the counties that were formed to the north
of those already described.
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PRESCOTT COUNTY (1798)

THIS county was named after Major-General Robert
Prescott, born 1725, died 1815. He took part in the
American war ; he was sent to Canada in 1796 to relieve
Lord Dorchester; he strengthened the forts of Quebec,
and served as Governor of Canada, Nova Scotia and New
Brunswick till 1799, when he was succeeded by Lieut.-
Governor Milnes. It appears that Governor Prescott
listened to the complaints of the settlers who alleged that
their rights had been infringed upon by the Board charged
with the management of the. Crown lands, of which Chief
Justice Osgoode was the Chairman ; large tracts of land
having been acquired, under one pretext or another, by
members of the Board and their relations and friends.
When Prescott laid the matter before the Home Govern-
ment, Judge Osgoode, who had, through his friends, great
influence at Court, was able to bring sufficient pressure upon
the Duke of Portland to secure the Governor’s recall, much
to the regret of a large majority of the people, who deemed
him an honorable and upright man. Prescott wrote to
Prince Edward, Duke of Kent, in August, 1797, speaking
of the extravagant price of provisions in Upper Canada
and of the drunkenness of the soldiers when they got their
monthly pay ; and many other letters from his pen are
found in the Archives. He died at Rose Green, near
Battle, in Sussex, in his eighty-ninth year, and was
buried at Winchelsea.
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HAWKESBURY TOWNSHIP, EAST AND WEST
(1798)

As Canning vapors, or as France succeeds,
As Hawkesbury proses, or as Ireland bleeds. |
—Moore.,

Dead all his money-loving soul’s desires,
When subtle Hawkesbury talks of patriot fires.
—P. Pindar,

THIS township took its name from Right Hon. Charles
Jenkinson, Baron Hawkesbury (1786) and Earl of Liver-
pool (1796), born in 1727, died in 1808, to whom
Haldimand sent returns from Canada in 1779. In early
life he wrote a discourse on the conduct of the British
Government in respect to neutral nations, and other works
which so recommended him that he was appointed an
Under Secretary of State in 1761. On Lord Bute’s
retirement, Mr. Jenkinson continued to' support the Royal
party, called the King’s Friends, and his advancement was
rapid and certain. His son, Robert Banks Jenkinson,
born in 1770, inherited his father’s abilities. At Oxford
he became an intimate friend of George Canning, and he
was elected to Parliament for the borough of Rye before
he was old enough to take the oaths. On the accession
of the Addington Ministry in 1801, the second Lord
Hawkesbury, who took that title when his father obtained
the Earldom, was appointed Secretary for the Foreign
Department. In 1803, in his father’s lifetime, he was
called to the House of Lords by writ, and held the Home
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Secretaryship until Mr. Pitt’s death. On the dismissal of
the Fox and Grenville Ministry, he again became Home
Secretary, and opposed the abolition of the Slave Trade,
Catholic Emancipation and Parliamentary Reform. When
Mr. Perceval was assassinated, Lord Liverpool became
Premier and held that position for fifteen years, dying in
1828. He was a capable man of business, but very
careless of dress, and the simplicity of the garb in which
the Prime Minister of England walked the streets of
London often provoked a smile.

There are two villages named Hawkesbury in Glou-
cestershire and one in Warwickshire.

LONGUEUIL TOWNSHIP (1798)

THIS name was first applied to Old Longuepil on the
south side of the St. Lawrence, in Chambly County,
Quebec, a seigniory granted to Charles Le Moyne de
Longueuil in 1672. Parkman names among the sons of
Charles Le Moyne, of Montreal, who came to Canada in
1641, Longueuil and 1berville, Chateauguay and Bienville.
Charles Le Moyne, Baron de Longueuil, succeeded his
father, the first grantee, in 1676. In 1781, the oath of
fealty was renewed by Dlle. Charles Le Moyne, Baroness
de Longueuil, and by Guillaume Grant as the husband of
Marie Catherine de Fleury d’Eschambault, widow of
Charles Le Moyne, Baron de Longueuil, father of the
Baroness aforesaid, On September 10, 1778, Lieutenant-
Governor Cramahe wrote from Quebec to Captain Foy
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“respecting Captain” Hall once prodigiously in love with
Madame de Longueuil” John Lambert wrote in 1810:
“ The opposite Island of St. Helen belongs to the Baroness
de Longueuil ; this lady married a gentleman of the name
of Grant, and brought him very extensive and valuable
landed property. The eldest son goes by the familiar ap-
pellation of Baron Grant.” The late Baron de Longueuil
was Charles Colmore Grant, seventh Baron, born at
Cheltenham, England, in 1844, and a resident of Pitlochry,
Perthshire, Scotland. He died at New York, December
13, 1898. He was a Protestant and a Conservative. The
title was granted by Louis XIV. of France in 1700 and
was recognized by Her Majesty Queen Victoria in 1880.
New Longueuil, on the north shore of the St. Lawrence,
in the County of Soulanges, Quebec, was granted to
Sieur Joseph Lemoine, Chevalier de Longueuil, in 1734.
It adjoins the township of Lancaster; Ontario. The
Longueuils were prominent and active under both French
and British rule, and the Archives show that they acquired
various fiefs, including Chateauguay in 1673 and Beloeil
in 1755. A Longueuil was acting Governor in 1726, and
when La Jonquiére died in 1752, Longueuil took his place
until the arrival of a new Governor. Longueuil went
with 1,600 men to save Ticonderoga. Longueuil sent
Canadians and Indians to pursue Rogers’ Rangers in 1759.
“Young Longueuil” went with Montcalm to sing the war
song with the Indian converts of the Two Mountains.
The seigneur, Colonel the Baron de Longueuil, served on
the British side in the Revolutionary War. In the
Archives Governor Milnes is mentioned as sending to the
Duke of Portland a letter dated June 12, 1801, from Col.
de Longueuil, enclosing a bill of exchange for £3500
sterling, as a voluntary contribution of officers and men
toward carrying on the war (with France). On the map
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of 1828, the present Ontario township of Longueuil on the
Ottawa River was called Seigniory of Pointe & I’Orignal.
On Smith’s map (1798) it was Longueuil.

CALEDONIA TOWNSHIP (1810)

O Caledonia, stern and wild !
Meet nurse for a poetic child.
—Lay of the Last Minstrel.

THE township of Caledonia is called by the name
given by the Romans to the northern part of Scotland.
This township was part of Longueuil on Smith’s map of
1798. On Walton & Gaylord’s map (1836) Caledonia
extends from Kenyon to the Ottawa, and Longueuil is not
mentioned.

ALFRED TOWNSHIP (1798)

Nor less by Alfred at his southern Court
Honour'd and known, as lord of harp and song.
—John Fitchett,

ALFRED was named in memory of Prince Alfred, son
of King George II1., born 1780, died 1782.
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PLANTAGENET TOWNSHIP (1798)

And in his sprightly eye was set
Some spark of the Plantagenet.
—Lord of the Isles.

PLANTAGENET is called from a surname of the royal
family of England from Henry II. to Richard III.
inclusive.  The name is now borne through collateral
descent by the Duke of Buckingham and Chandos
(Grenville).
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RUSSELL COUNTY (1798)

Were all the wealth of Russell mine,
And all the rank of Howard’s line.
—The Bridal of Triermain.

RUSSELL County was called after Hon. Peter Russell,
who served under Sir Henry Clinton and came to Canada
with Governor Simcoe in 1792 as Inspector-General and
was made a member of the Legislative and Executive
Councils. Upon Simcoe’s departure, Mr. Russell, as senior
member of the Council, became acting Governor until the
arrival of General Hunter in 1799. His name is frequently
mentioned in the Canadian Archives, and not always in a
complimentary manner. In fact, he appears to have been
a land grabber. There is a letter from Governor Hunter
to Mr. King, dated October 27, 1799, in which he says:
“The Councillors are all good men; Russell, had it
depended on him, would have granted lands to the devil
and all his family (as good loyalists) provided they could
have paid the fees”” McMullen says that Russell was
accused of illegally making grants of land to himself and
to his relatives and particular friends. Searches in the
registry offices have fully confirmed these accusations.
He made few personal enemies, but his avarice, and the
manner in which he permitted land monopolies to arise,
seriously interfered with the settlement of the province,
and laid the foundations of many evils. Russell never
married and died at Toronto a rich man, leaving a portion
of his estate to the Baldwin family.

4
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RUSSELL TOWNSHIP (1798)

See Russell County.

CAMBRIDGE TOWNSHIP (1798)

Choose between them, Cambridge, pray,
Which is weakest, Cambridge, say.

—Moove.

THE township of Cambridge was named after Prince
Adolphus, Duke of Cambridge, son of King George III.
(see Adolphustown township). Cambridge, the county
town of Cambridgeshire, England, from which this title is
taken, stands upon elevated ground on the northwest of
the river Cam. It was a British settlement and also a
Roman station, and there are traditions about Julius
Casar taking scholars from Cambridge to Rome. Front-
ing the shire hall of Cambridge is Hobson’s conduit, the
gift of a rich hackney-man, in the reign of James I., whose
tenacity in letting out his horses in strict rotation gave
rise to the proverb of “Hobson’s choice ”—this or none.
Cambridge University is believed to have been founded by
Sigebert, King of East Anglia, about the year 631. Little
doubt can be entertained that Saxon divisions and Danish
ferocity had banished all knowledge from that part of
Britain before the accession of Alfred the Great. There
are now thirteen colleges at Cambridge, each possessing an
interesting history.
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CUMBERLAND TOWNSHIP (1798)

But the bold Lord of Cumberland,

The gallant Clifford, seeks thy hand.
—Scott.

CUMBERLAND is called after Prince Ernest Augustus,
Duke of Cumberland, fifth son of King George IlI. (see
Ernestown township). Cumberland, from which the title
is taken, is a northern county of England, part of its
northern boundary being Scotland. Though Cumbria
submitted to the Saxons in 593, it was governed by its
own potentates till the tenth century. The Picts’ wall,
built by the Emperor Adrian in 121, crossed the whole
island, from sea to sea, about 100 miles. It began near
Carlisle. The mountains of Cumberland are rich in
plumbago, lead, coal, copper and iron. Cumberland gave
the title of Earl to the ancient family of Clifford, but since
the reign of Charles L. it has been held as a dukedom by
some of the Royal family.

CLARENCE TOWNSHIP (1798)

What scourge for perjury
Can this dark monarchy afford false Clarence ?
—King Richard II1.

THIs township was named after Prince William Henry,
Duke of Clarence, afterward King William IV. (See
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Williamsburg township). The title of Clarence has been
appropriated to the Royal family since the marriage of
Elizabeth de Burgh, heiress of Gilbert de Clare, to Lionel,
Duke of Clarence, son of King Edward II1.
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CARLETON COUNTY (1798)

And mind—keep George as poor as a church mouse ;
Vote not a half-penny for Carleton House ;
This may appear like wonderful barbarity—
But mind, Pitt, mind—he gains in popularity.
—Peter Pindar.

THIS county got its name from Sir Guy Carleton,
afterwards Lord Dorchester, born 1724, died 1808, who
accompanied Wolfe’s expedition to Canada and took part
in the battle of the Plains of Abraham. In 1767, General
Murray going to England, the government of the colony
devolved on Carleton. In 1770 he went to England, but
returned to Canada in 1774, and defended Quebec from
the attack of Montgomery and Arnold. In 1782 Carleton
succeeded Sir Henry Clinton as Commander-in-chief of
His Majesty’s forces in America. In 1783 he evacuated
New York and withdrew the British ships from America.
In 1786 he was made a peer, with a pension of £1,000,
and sent to Canada as Governor-General, which post he
held till 1796. He was a strict disciplinarian, but kind of
heart, and very popular with the French Canadians. He
married, in 1772, Lady Mary Howard, daughter of
Thomas, Earl of Effingham, and died in 1808, aged
cighty-three. Carleton county is named on the map of
1798, but was not then organized, or divided into town-
ships, though portions of the present county of Carleton
were included in Russell and Grenville counties.
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GLOUCESTER TOWNSHIP (1798)

Come, come, we know your meaning, brother Gloster.
—King Richard [11.

Like Gloucester, who for pay can leave his party ;
Some years ago I joined his corps so hearty,
Thinking the Prince of Erebus ill treated.
—P., Pindar.

"THIs township got its name from William Frederick,
second Duke of Gloucester, born 1776, died 1834, son of
Prince William Henry, Duke of Gloucester, who was a
brother of King George III. The second Duke married
his cousin Princess Mary (see Marysburg township). “He
was not a man of talent,” says Mr. Raikes, “as may be
inferred from his nick-name of ‘Silly Billy,” but he was a
quiet, inoffensive character.” Greville speaks of the
“Duke of Gloucester bowing to the company, while
nobody was taking any notice of him, or thinking about
him. Nature must have been in a merry mood when she
made this Prince.” He formed a great attachment to
Warren Hastings and wrote many silly letters to him.
Stockmar describes him in these words: “Duke of
Gloucester—Prominent, meaningless eyes; without being
exceptionally ugly, a very unpleasant face, with an animal
expression ; large and stout, but with weak, helpless legs.
He wore a neck-cloth thicker than his head.”

Gloucestershire, from which county in England the
title is taken, was the chief seat of warfare between the
ancient Britons and the Anglo-Saxons ; also between the
Saxons and the Danes. In 1465 the sanguinary battle of
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Tewkesbury in this county terminated the civil war
between Henry VI. and Edward IV. Other battles were
fought in Gloucestershire between Charles I. and the
Parliamentary forces; and on the landing of William,
Prince of Orange, a skirmish took place at Cirencester, in
which Lord Lovelace was taken prisoner.

The city of Gloucester, situated on the eastern bank of
the Severn River, enjoyed for a long time the exclusive
manufacture of pins, introduced by John Tilsby in 1625.
In the Cathedral are monuments to Edward TI., John
Gower, the architect, Dr. Edward Jenner, and Robert
Raikes, the founder of Sunday schools.

In 1798 Gloucester township was a part of Russell
county.

OSGOODE TOWNSHIP (1708)

Not to guzzle beer or whiskey,
To the bar they got their call ;
They're the newest batch of lawyers.
Just turned out, from Osgoode Hall.
—Robert Saunders.

THE township of Osgoode was named after William
Osgoode, born 1754, died 1824. He was Chief Justice of
Canada from 1792 to 1808; came from England with
Governor Simcoe.  Transferred to Quebec in 1794.
Osgoode Hall in Toronto is named after him. “ He died
in affluent circumstances, the result of laudable prudence,
without the smallest taint of avarice, or illiberal parsimony.”
He received a retiring allowance of £800 a year which he
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enjoyed for twenty-three years. Osgoode township
belonged to Russell county before Carleton county was
organized.

NORTH GOWER TOWNSHIP (1798)

SEE South Gower, Grenville County. The whole of
this township was in Grenville in 1798.

NEPEAN TOWNSHIP (1798)

THE township of Nepean is called after Sir Evan
Nepean, Secretary for Ireland, 1804, to whom Haldimand
sent many letters and reports from Canada in 1784-85.
Dr. Scadding suggests Lieut.-General Nicholas Nepean,
living in 1793 et seq, but as Mr. E. Nepean was Under
Secretary in the Colonial Department (under Mr. Dundas)
until 1795, when he was succeeded by Mr. Huskisson, it
appears probable that the township was named in his
honor. On August 14, 1789, Joseph Brant wrote to
General Haldimand stating that the gold watch promised
by Mr. Nepean turns out to be only gilt. In 1798 Nepean
township was part of Grenville county.
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GOULBOURN TOWNSHIP (1816)

Praying, God save the Goulbourns all
From mad Dissenters, great and small.

—Moore.

THE township of Goulbourn got its name from Henry
Goulbourn, born 1784, Under Secretary of State for the
Home Department in 1810; for the Colonies in 1812 ;
Chancellor of the Exchequer 1828-30 and 1841-45; died
in 1856. Henry Goulbourn, as Under Secretary of State,
signed the Treaty of Peace between Great Britain and the
United States at Ghent in 1814.

MARLBOROUGH TOWNSHIP (1798)

It was the Duke of Marlborough who put the French to rout,
But what they fought each other for, I never could make out.
—Southey.

THIs township, which originally belonged to Grenville
county, bears the name Charlborough on Smith’s 1798
map, either as a misprint for Marlborough, or from
Charlbury in Oxfordshire, seven miles from Woodstock,
near which village is Blandford Park, successively owned
by the Earl of Danby, the Earl of Clarendon, the Duke of
Marlborough and the Duke of Beaufort. The Ontario
township now called Marlborough is just north of Oxford
on the Rideau, and as Blenheim Castle and Charlbury are
both in Oxfordshire, either name is appropriate in that
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connection. John Churchill, Duke of Marlborough, son of
Sir Winston Churchill, was born at Ashe, Devonshire, in
1650. King James II. made him a peer, with the title of
Baron Eymouth, in 1682, and he was created Lord
Churchill in 1685. King William III. made him Earl of
Marlborough in 1689. He took Liege in 1702 and Queen
Anne made him Marquis of Blandford and Duke of
Marlborough in 1703. With Prince Eugene he conquered
the French at Blenheim in 1704, and for that he received
the grant of the manor of Woodstock. In 1706 he fought
the famous battle of Ramilies. He died in 1722, in the
reign of George I, and his remains were interred with
great pomp in Westminster Abbey. (See Blenheim and
Blandford townships). The town of Marlborough in
Wiltshire, from which the Duke’s principal title was taken,
is named from its situation at the foot of a hill of chalk or
marl. [t was mentioned in Domesday Book and became
a place of importance after the Norman Conquest, when a
castle was erected, of which some traces are still visible.
A Parliament was held at Marlborough in the fifty-second
year of King Henry IIl.’s reign.

MARCH TOWNSHIP (1823)

Myself,—and you, son Harry,—will toward Wales

To fight with Glendower, and the Earl of March.
—King Henry IV,

THis township was named in honor of the Duke of
Richmond, Earl of March, Baron Settrington and Methuen
of Torbolton. The title Earl of March is derived from
the Marches in South Wales.
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TORBOLTON TOWNSHIP (1823)

In the parish o’ Tarbolton,
Near the bonnie toun o’ Ayr,
Young Robin Burns followed the plough,
Happy and free from care.
His *“ father was a farmer,"”
As he tells us in his song,
And Rob loved all the lassies,
But he loved none o’ them long.

—Anon.

THE name of this township is from a title of the Duke
of Richmond. (See March township). Torbolton, also
spelled Tarbolton, is a village in Ayrshire, Scotland, near
which the father of Robert Burns resided in 1777. About
half a mile from Torbolton, at the Mansion House of
Coilsfield, “Highland Mary” worked as a dairymaid.
Coilsfield now belongs to the Earl of Eglinton.

HUNTLEY TOWNSHIP (1823)

Now wae be to you Huntley !

And wherefore did ye sae?

I bade you bring him wi’ you,

But forbade you him to slae.
—O0!d Ballad.

THE name is from Huntley Castle, a part of the
extensive estate in Aberdeen county, Scotland, which

came to the fifth Duke of Richmond through his mother,
I.ady Charlotte Gordon, wife of the Duke of Richmond
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who was Governor of Canada. Gordon Castle on the
same estate is 560 feet in length, with a park eighteen
miles in circumference. The Duchess of Gordon, wife of
Alexander the fourth Duke, became somewhat noted as a
matchmaker, because three of her daughters were married
to Dukes—Lady Charlotte to Charles Lennox, the Duke
of Richmond ; Lady Susan to William Montagu, Duke of
Manchester ; and Lady Georgiana to John Russell, Duke
of Bedford.

Lady Charlotte, the Duchess of Richmond, had fourteen
children, one of whom, Lady Sarah, wife of Sir Peregrine
Maitland, lived in Canada about ten years, her husband
succeeding her father temporarily as Governor and remain-
ing as Lieut.-Governor of Upper Canada. Lady Sarah
Maitland has left traces of her presence in the naming of
many townships. March and Torbolton were titles of her
father and her brother ; Lord Huntley was the title of her
mother’s brother George in the lifetime of his father. He
was the fifth Duke of Gordon, and when he died in 1836,
that title became extinct, but it was revived by creation in
1876 and conferred upon the sixth Duke of Richmond.
In 1794 Lord Huntley helped his mother to raise the
regiment of Gordon Highlanders. On May 10, 1819,
Lieut.-Colonel Innes wrote to the Marquis of Huntley
about an application made by the Duke of Richmond to
Earl Bathurst. See Archives of 1897.
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FITZROY TOWNSHIP (1823)

All that or Granta’s fruitful plain
Rich streams of regal bounty poured,
And bade their awful fanes and turrets rise,
To hail their Fitzroy’s festal morning come,
And thus they speak in soft accord
The liquid language of the skies.
—Thomas Gray, 1769.

THIS township was named in honor of Sir Charles
Augustus Fitzroy, K.C.B., Captain-General and Governor-
in-Chief of New South Wales, and Lieut.-Governor of the
Island of Antigua ; son of General Lord Charles Fitzroy,
M.P. for St. Edmund’s Bury, who voted for the Canada
bill, and grandson of the third Duke of Grafton; born
1796, died 1838, having married in 1820 Lady Mary
Lennox, eldest daughter of the Duke of Richmond who
was Governor of Canada, and a sister of Lady Sarah
Maitland, wife of Lieut.-Governor Maitland.
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LANARK COUNTY (1825)

It was as sweet an autumn day
As ever shone on Clyde,
And Lanark’s orchards all the way

Put forth their golden pride.
—Campbell,

Warn Lanark’s knights to gird their mail,

Rouse the brave sons of Teviotdale.
—ZLord of the Isles.

THIS county is named after Lanark, the county town
of Lanarkshire, or Clydesdale, an inland county of Scotland,
which produces coal and lead, and is the seat of many
manufacturing industries. The town of Lanark is twenty-
five miles from Glasgow and thirty-two miles from
Edinburgh. Its proximity to the Falls of Clyde makes it
a favorite place of resort for strangers in summer. It was
in Lanark that the Scottish hero, Wallace, commenced his
exertions to free his country from a foreign yoke. In the
parish church is a statue of the hero. The village of New
Lanark, established in 1783 by David Dale, of Glasgow,
father-in-law of the famous Robert Owen, was the scene of
a notable experiment in profit-sharing among the
employees of the cotton manufactory. Sir Walter Scott
describes some of the Lanark people and houses in “ The
Talisman.” Rev. Richard Jones says: “In the year 1816
the townships north of the Rideau Lake, known as the
Perth settlement, were settled principally by discharged
soldiers, some of whom had been with Abercrombie in
Egypt, with Wellington and Sir John Moore in Spain,
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with Cornwallis in America, but the greater part had seen
service in 1812, when Canada was the battle field. Ata
very great expense, the British Government tried to make
these old soldiers and their families as comfortable as
possible at the close of the war. They chose their locations
without expense, and each man received, according to his
rank, from one hundred to five hundred acres. They were
also supplied with all necessary implements of husbandry,
and tools for building purposes ; also, cooking utensils and
blankets, with one year’s provisions for each man, woman
and child” Most of the present county of Lanark was
originally included in Carleton county.

MONTAGUE TOWNSHIP (1798)

How far off is our brother Montague ?
Where is the post that came from Montague ?
—King Henry V1.

THIS township was named in honor of Admiral Sir
George Montague, who served on the ship Marlborough,
of seventy-four guns, in 1770. He was born in 1750 and
died in December, 1829. His father was Admiral John
Montagu, with whom Haldimand corresponded in 1773,
descended from the first Earl of Manchester, and his
mother was Sophia Wroughton. He left the Royal Naval
Academy at Portsmouth to enter the Preston, commanded
by Captain (afterwards Lord) Gardner, in which ship he
proceeded to the Jamaica station. At the commencement
of the American war, Captain Montagu was sent to block-
ade Marblehead and Salem. He captured the Washington,
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the first war vessel sent to sea by the American States.
Subsequently, he covered the retreat and embarkation of
the army under Sir William Howe, at the evacuation of
Boston, for which he was thanked by Lord Howe. In the
river Chesapeake, Captain Montagu rescued Lord Dun-
more and Governor Eden, and after the reduction of New
York he returned to England in ill-health. In 1779 he
was appointed to the Pearl frigate and captured the Santa
Monica. Then he went to the relief of Gibraltar and back
to America, acting as senior officer at New York. In 1793
he accompanied Rear-Admiral Gardner to Barbadoes, and
in 1794 joined the grand fleet, commanded by Earl Howe.
In 1795 he was promoted to the rank of Vice-Admiral.
From 1803 to 1808 Admiral Montagu held the chief
command at Portsmouth, and in 1810 he was presented
with a superb piece of plate by the Captains who had
fitted out there. He married in 1783 his cousin, Charlotte
Wroughton, and his eldest daughter married Vice- Admiral
Sir John Gore. It is highly probable that Governor
Simcoe knew Admiral Montagu during the war and had
him in mind when the township was named. The family
name of the Earl of Sandwich (see Sandwich township)
was Montagu. John Lambert (1810) says that Cape
Rouge, near Quebec, is remarkable for the interest given
to it by Mrs. Brookes in her *“ Emily Montague.” Mon-
tague Grove, near Hampstead, Middlesex, derives its name
from Edward Montague, Esq., Master in Chancery, the
friend of Lord Mansfield. The Duke of Montagu in the
last century was George Brudenell, fourth Earl of Cardi-
gan, who in 1730 married Lady Mary Montagu, daughter
of John, Duke of Montagu, and took his deceased father-in-
law’s title in 1776, in which year he was appointed to the
Privy Council and made Governor to the Prince of Wales
and the Duke of York. He died in 1790 and his title
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descended to his grandson Henry, second son of the Duke
of Buccleugh, who died in 1845, when the title of Duke of
Montagu expired. Matthew Montagu, M.P., voted for the
Canada Bill, and Right Hon. F. Montagu opposed it.
The family name Montagu was taken originally from the
town of Montagu in Normandy, but it was written in
Domesday Book and other old records in the Latin form ;
thus Drogo de Monteacuto came over with the Duke of
Normandy in 1066. Then the name became Montacute,
Montagew, Montague and Montagu, ending as it began in
the French form. It means sharp mountain. In 1798
Montague township was a part of Grenville county.

BECKWITH TOWNSHIP (1816)

The Beckwiths were a fighting race,
And though they'd ne'er begin it,

Where’er a fight was taking place
You'd find a Beckwith in it.

—D. Eaton.

THE name Beckwith is English, but it is intimately
connected with Canadian history. Major Beckwith was
sent from Nijagara to Oswego by General Amherst in
1759. Sir George Beckwith was assistant Adjutant-
General under Lord Rawdon in 1778, before the latter
was dismissed by Sir Henry Clinton and succeeded by
Major André as Adjutant-General. George Beckwith
was the second son of Major-General John Beckwith, of a
good Yorkshire family, who served with credit in the
Seven Years’ War. George entered the 37th regiment as

an ensign in 1771, served with it in America from 1776 to
S
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1782, was made Captain in 1777, appointed aid to Knyp-
hausen in 1779, and aid to Sir Guy Carleton in 1782. He
rose to the ranks of Major-General and Lieutenant-
General. In 1797 he was made Governor of Bermuda ; of
St. Vincent in 1804 ; of Barbadoes in 1808. He captured
Martinique in 1809, receiving the thanks of Parliament,
and was created a K.C.B. In 1810 he captured Gaude-
loupe, the last French possession in the West Indies.
Leaving Barbadoes in 1814, he was appointed to the chief
command in Ireland in 1816, which he held till 1820, when
he died unmarried. His mother survived him, dying in
1827, aged ninety-seven. Four of his brothers were also
in the army, the eldest of whom, Captain John Beckwith,
married Mary Haliburton, sister of Mr. Justice Haliburton,
of Nova Scotia, and an aunt of the author of “ Sam Slick.”
Colonel Sidney Beckwith, quartermaster-general, had
charge of the troops sent to Bermuda in 1813. His
reports to L.ord Bathurst appear in the Canadian Archives.
J. Beckwith was Naval Officer at Quebec under Lord Dal-
housie in 1823. Of the Beckwiths in Canada, Nehemiah,
a loyalist, settled at Fredericton, N.B., and built sloops in
partnership with Benedict Arnold. He married Julie
Louise Le Brun, who came to Fredericton from Quebec
with the family of Sir Guy Carleton, as companion and
French governess to Miss Carleton. In 1813 Nehemiah
Beckwith purchased a large tract of land in the suburbs of
Montreal, but the vendor dying before the deeds were
completed the purchaser lost land and money. Mrs,
Beckwith, née Le Brun, was said to be a cousin of the Duc
de Richelieu. Her son, Hon. John Adolphus Beckwith,
born 1800, died 1880, was deputy surveyor-general of
New Brunswick and a legislative councillor. His son,
Adolphus George Beckwith, born 1839, has been deputy
surveyor of New Brunswick and engineer of public works.
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Major-General Charles Beckwith, C.B., eldest son of John
Beckwith and Mary Haliburton, born at Halifax, N.S,, in
1789, entered the army when fourteen years old. In 180y
he served in Denmark, in 1808 in Sweden, in 1809 with
Lord Wellesley in Spain, going through all the battles and
winning a gold medal at Toulouse. At Waterloo Major
Beckwith lost a leg. In 1827 he set out for the Vaudois
Valleys to evangelize the inhabitants. He wrote several
works in the Italian language. The monument over his
grave at Torre-Pellice was erected “to the venerated
memory of their illustrious and constant benefactor,
Major-General Charles Beckwith, by the grateful Vaudois
Church.” He died at La Tour in 1862,

RAMSAY TOWNSHIP (1823)

Ramsay and famous Fergusson
Gied Forth and Tay a lift aboon

Yarrow and Tweed, to monie a tune.
- Burns,

THE township of Ramsay takes its name from General
George Ramsay, Earl of Dalhousie, born 1770, died 1838,
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DALHOUSIE TOWNSHIP (1823)

After, Dalhousie’s venerable walls
Time-honor'd and for noble sons renown’d
Stately up-rear'd o’er Esk’s south-springing stream.
—John Fitchett.

. Fill Wellington’s cup till it beam like his glory,
Forget not our own brave Dalhousie and Graeme ;
A thousand years hence hearts shall bound at their story,
And hallow the goblet that flows to their fame.
— Walter Scott.

THE township of Dalhousie is named from George
Ramsay, Earl of Dalhousie, Governor of Nova Scotia,
founder of Dalhousie College, Halifax, who on the death
of the Duke of Richmond was appointed by Lord Bathurst
Governor-General of Canada. He could not leave Nova
Scotia immediately, and Sir Peregrine Maitland performed
the duties until Dalhousie’s arrival in 1820. Mr. Christie,
the historian, says “therc was a manliness, candor and
integrity in Lord Dalhousie that could not fail to
command the respect of every unprejudiced mind
acquainted with him.” Lord Dalhousie was Governor of
Canada until 1828, when he was appointed Commander-
in-Chief of the forces in India. A recent number of the
Acadian Recorder (Halifax) gives the following glimpse of
old times: It was announced in the newspapers of 1826
that the Duke of Manchester, Sir Howard Douglas,
Governor of New Brunswick, Governor Ready, of Prince
Edward Island, and Sir T. Cochrane would be in Halifax
at the same time with the Earl of Dalhousie, who was
expected from Canada late in July. On the night of the
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1st of August the inhabitants of Halifax gave a ball in
honor of the Countess of Dalhousie. Her Ladyship was
led into the room by the Hon. Michael Wallace, and
dancing soon after commenced—Lady Dalhousie opening
the ball with the Hon. Judge Haliburton, and they being
followed by Lord Dalhousie and the Lady of the Master
of the Rolls—Mrs. Robie. Dalhousie Castle is in the
parish of Cockpen, Midlothian.

PAKENHAM TOWNSHIP (1823)

Old Hickory fought at New Orleans
After the war was done ;

There General Pakenham was killed.
He was Lord Longford’s son.

—Jonathan Barnes.

PAKENHAM was called after General Sir Edward
Michael Pakenham, born 1778, killed at the battle of New
Orleans, 1815, on which occasion General (afterwards
President) Andrew Jackson commanded the American
forces. In his despatch to Earl Bathurst, giving an
account of the disaster at New Orleans, Major-General
Lambert wrote : “It is not necessary for me to expatiate
to you upon the loss the army has sustained in Major-
General the Honorable Sir E. Packenham, Commander-in-
chief of this force, nor could I do so in adequate terms.
His services and merits are so well known that I have
only, in common with the whole army, to express my sincere
regret, which may be supposed at this moment to come
particularly home to me. The brave commander of the
forces, who never in his life could refrain from being at the
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post of honor, and sharing the dangers to which the troops
were exposed, galloped on to the front to animate them by
his presence ; it was there he received two wounds, one in
his knee, and another, which was almost instantly fatal, in
his body.” General Pakenham’s sister was the wife of the
first Duke of Wellington.

NORTH ELMSLEY TOWNSHIP (1798)

See South Elmsley, Leeds County.

DRUMMOND TOWNSHIP (1816)

For Drummond is marching that pitiless day,
And the feet of his soldiers are swift for the fray.
—W. T. White,

THE township of Drummond took its name from
General Sir Gordon Drummond, born at Quebec, 1771,
died in London, 1854. He was with Sir Ralph Aber-
crombie in Egypt, 1801, was an intimate friend of the
Duke of Kent, and was sent to Canada in 1813 by the
Duke of York as second in command to Sir George
Prevost. He was wounded at Lundy’s Lane, and in the
fall of 1814 succeeded Prevost as commander of the forces
and administrator of the Government of the Canadas a
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position he held. until 1816. Sir Gordon Drummond'’s
daughter, Eliza, married, in 1332, Henry Howard, Earl of
Effingham.

LANARK TOWNSHIP (1820)

See Lanark County.

DARLING TOWNSHIP (1823)

Potent to hush all ventriloquial snarling,—
And ease the bosom pangs of indigestion
Thou art, sans question,
The Corporation’s love—its Doctor Darling.
—Hood.

THIS township was probably called after Colonel H. C.
Darling, military secretary to Lord Dalhousie, the Gover-
nor-General in 1823. On September 10, 1822, he reported
on the military settlements in Lanark. (See Archives
1897). Dr. Scadding speaks of General Darling, a friend
and associate of Governor Simcoe, after whom Darling
Island, now called Snake Island, in Lake Simcoe, was
named.

There was a Major Darling with General Amherst at
the siege of Louisbourg in 1738, who may have become a
General afterward. Governor Gore, after his final retire-
ment from the Government of Upper Canada, wrote to
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Colonel Givins of York: “I learn that Lord Dalhousie
has recommended a Major Darling to succeed to our poor
friend Claus. I suppose his Lordship is satisfied with that
gentleman’s perfect knowledge of the Indian Nations to
justify him in preferring him to so important an office.”
Dr. Scadding, quoting this, adds : “ The rumor respecting
the appointment of Major Darling did not prove to be well
grounded. Colonel Givins himself became Colonel Claus’
successor.” This Major Darling was probably the Colonel
Darling mentioned by Fothergill as Military Secretary to
Lord Dalhousie at Quebec in 1823. “Smith’s Canada”
(1851) quotes a statement of “ Mr. Darling, the Surgeon to
the establishment at the Manitoulin” A Perth corre-
spondent says the township was named in honor of Grace
Darling, but that is impossible, for the name appears in
the list of townships in Fothergill’s Almanac, published in
1824, when Grace Darling was only nine years old, and
fourteen years previous to her heroic rescue of the
passengers of the Forfarshire steamer in 1838.

NORTH BURGESS TOWNSHIP (1798)

See South Burgess, Leeds County.
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SHERBROOKE TOWNSHIP, NORTH AND SOUTH
(1820)

Of all cur soldier Governors
From Murray down to Head,
Sherbrooke the most efficient was,

Historians have said.
—Henry Irving.

THE township of Sherbrooke took its name from Sir
John Coape Sherbrooke, born 1764, Governor of Canada
in 1816. Kingsford says he proved to be one of the wisest
Governors of that period. “ But all that Sherbrooke did
accomplish was nullified by the ill-judged self-assertion of
his incompetent successor, the Duke of Richmond.” The
health of Governor Sherbrooke was so poor that he could
not remain long in Canada. He died in 1830 at Claverton
in England. (See Sherbrooke township, Haldimand
county).

BATHURST TOWNSHIP (1816)

Then, how could any party fail,

That steer’d itself by Bathurst’s tail ?
—Moore,

THE township of Bathurst was named in honor of
Henry, second Earl Bathurst, son of Baron Apsley, born
1762, died 1834. He was Lord Commissioner of the
Admiralty, Commissioner for India, Foreign Secretary,



74 NOTHING BUT NAMES

Colonial Secretary, President of the Council and First
Lord of the Admiralty. He married a daughter of the
Duke of Richmond, and was a brother-in-law of Lady
Sarah Maitland. The Archives contain much correspond-
ence with Lord Bathurst, whose name was given to a
district in Canada, afterwards abolished by Act of
Parliament.

LAVANT TOWNSHIP (1823)

There was a sound of revelry by night,
And Belgium'’s capital was gathered there,
Her beauty and her chivalry.
—Childe Harold.

THE name Lavant is taken from that of a village in
Sussex, north of Chichester, near which is Goodwood, the
splendid seat of the Duke of Richmond, agreeably situated
in a spacious park. Goodwood races, established by
Charles, the third Duke, in 1802, are annually run in this
park.

The multitude of names in Lanark and Carleton
counties, derived from the ducal house of Richmond, is
explained by the fact that Charles Lennox, the fourth
Duke of Richmond, was making a tour in this vicinity,
when he was attacked by the hydrophobia which resulted
in his death. He had been bitten in the hand by a tame
fox at Sorel on the river Richelieu, then called William
Henry, but the wound healed and nothing was thought of
it. Some weeks later, when proceeding from Col. Powell’s
military settlement at Perth to the settlement of the 100th
Prince Regent’s disbanded regiment at the village of
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Richmond on the Goodwood River, he found himself
unable to cross any stream of water, and violent symptoms
developing he was carried to a barn, where he died in
agony on August 28, 1819. There are old residents in
Perth who maintain the tradition that it was delirium
tremens and not hydrophobia that cut short the career of
the Duke of Richmond. A descendant of the owner of the
barn in which the Duke died insists that this is the correct
story. His remains were conveyed to Quebec and buried
there, with much pomp and ceremony, in the English
cathedral. This was the Duke of Richmond who, before
the death of his uncle, the third Duke, fought a duel with
Prince Frederick, Duke of York, Lord Rawdon, afterwards
the Marquis of Hastings, being one of the seconds. He
mafried (see Huntley township) a daughter of the Duchess
of Gordon, and it was his wife who gave the famous ball at
Brussels, on the eve of the battle of Waterloo, which Byron
has immortalized in the twenty-first and succeeding stanzas
of the third canto of Childe Harold. The Duke was born
in 1764, married in 1789, succeeded his uncle in the
Dukedom in 1806, was appointed Governor of Canada in
1818 and died in 1819. He had previously been Viceroy
of Ireland for six years and had filled other important
stations. His son and successor, born 1791, served under
the Duke of Wellington in Spain and at Waterloo, and
had a distinguished career in Parliament. He married in
1817 Lady Caroline Paget, eldest daughter of the Marquis
of Anglesey. (See Anglesey and Uxbridge townships).
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RENFREW COUNTY

From Paisley and from Greenock came the strappin’ Renfrew laddies
To make new homes in Canada and send home for their daddies.

THiS county takes its name from Renfrewshire,
anciently Strathgryffe, a west county of Scotland, the
whole of which is included in the basin of the Clyde.
Coal, alum and iron are produced in large quantities in
Renfrewshire. The Stuart family had their earliest known
patrimonial inheritance in the parish of Renfrew, in
Renfrewshire, and it is from this circumstance that the
Prince of Wales derives his title of Baron of Renfrew.

McNAB TOWNSHIP (1825)

The Campbell may come, as his promises bind him,
And haughty McNab, with his giants behind him . . .
Aye, that was McNab, in the height of his pride,
When the lions of Dochart stood firm by his side.
—Hogg, the Ettrick Shepherd.

THE name is derived from the late Archibald McNab,
of McNab, the last of the Chiefs of the McNab clan, who
was born in 1775 at Kinnel House, Killin, Perthshire,
Scotland. His father was a physician; he succeeded his
uncle Francis McNab, of whom many comical stories are
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told, in the Chieftainship. Archibald McNab emigrated
to Canada with a portion of his clan in 1825 and settled
on the Ottawa River. The arrangements he made with
the settlers were on the old feudal system, and they did
not work satisfactorily ; indeed, there was constant strife
between the Laird and his tenants, until the Government
in 1842 paid McNab $16,000 to get out, which he did,
removing to Hamilton and living on the property where
the Loretto Convent is now located, King street west,
until 1852, when he went to Scotland to take charge of a
small estate that had been left him in the Orkneys. He
died in France in 1860. McNab possessed a sword which
had at one time belonged to Prince Charlie; he presented
it to Queen Victoria in 1855. Except one family, the
McNabs all left Perthshire years ago, the old estate going
into the hands of the Earl of Breadalbane. Archibald
McNab was a strong Conservative and a great friend of
Sir Francis Bond Head (see Head township), to whom he
wrote a letter in 1837 offering the support of “the only
Highland chieftain in America” and his clan. Dr. Scad-
ding says it was always evident that the Chief set a high
valae on himself. “May the McNab of McNab’s have
the pleasure of taking wine with Lady Sarah Maitland ?”
silenced the dinner table at Government House. The
same author tells the familiar story about Archibald
McNab, of Renfrew county, and Sir Allan McNab, of
Hamilton, as follows: “Again at Kingston the ever-
conscious Chief having written himself down in the
visitors’ book at the hotel as ¢ The McNab,” his juvenile
relative, coming in immediately after and seeing the curt
inscription, instantly entered his protest against the
monopoly apparently implied, by writing himself down,
in conspicuous characters, as ‘ The Other McNab.””

The Archives mention a letter, dated March 13, 1823,
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from Maitland to Bathurst, transmitting a petition from
McNab, of McNab, for a grant of land to settle part of his
clan, and adding that his proposal is attended with risk to
himself and embarrassment to the Provincial Government.

BAGOT TOWNSHIP (1843)

Call forth Bagot :—
Now, Bagot, freely speak thy mind ;
What thou dost know of noble Gloster’s death.
—King Richard I1.

THE township is named after Sir Charles Bagot,
second son of Sir William, sixth Baronet and first Baron
Bagot, of Bagot’s Bromley, Staffordshire ; born 1781, died
1843. His mother was Hon. Louisa St. John, daughter of
Viscount Bolingbroke, and a descendant of the Minister
of Queen Anne, to whom Pope addressed his “ Essay on
Man.” Sir Charles Bagot married in 1806 Lady Mary
Charlotte Anne Wellesley-Pole, eldest daughter of
William, third Earl of Mornington. He was ambassador
extraordinary to Russia before his appointment as
Governor of Canada in 1841. A staunch Conservative
and High Churchman, nephew by marriage of the Duke
of Wellington, and having served under Canning as
Under Secretary for Foreign Affairs, Sir Charles Bagot
had a good record before coming to Canada. McMullen
says he treated all parties with equal justice and made
appointments in the most impartial manner. He had a
severe attack of dropsy, and though the Home Govern-
ment consented to relieve him of duty, he was unable to
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return to England before his death. “His stately wife,
who had won golden opinions on all sides, never recovered
from the loss of her husband.” She died in 1845.

BLITHEFIELD TOWNSHIP (1843)

TAKES its name from Blithefield House, a seat of the
Bagot family. Walter Bagot (1590) was described as “of
Blithefield and Bagot’s Bromley.” Rev. William Somer-
ville, brother of Mark, sixteenth ILord Somerville, married
in 1830 Charlotte, daughter of Rev. Walter Bagot, of
Blithefield, County of Stafford. Their son, Lieut.
Reginald Hugh Somerville, was killed at Sebastopol,
September 8, 1855. On the map of 1836 the territory now
included in Bagot and Blithefield is called Madawaska.

BROMLEY TOWNSHIP (1843)

TAKES its name from Bagot’s Bromley, in Stafford-
shire, the chief seat of the Bagot family. An ancestor of
Sir Charles probably went over to England with the
conqueror, as the name is undoubtedly Norman, and when
Domesday Book was compiled a Bagot was in possession of
the estate of Bagot’s Bromley.

At Abbot’s Bromley, a town in Staffordshire, east of
the City of Stafford and south of Uttoxeter, “the hobby-
horse dance, an ancient custom, was observed till the civil
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war. The dancers carried on their shoulders deers’
heads, painted with the arms of Paget, Bagot and Welles,
to whom the chief property of the town belonged. The
parish includes Bromley, Bagot’s liberty and Bromley
Hurst township. Bagot’s Park is the deer park of Lord
Bagot, whose seat is at Blithefield.”—IDUGDALE.

Mr. Bromley, of Baginton, was Speaker of the House
of Commons in the reign of Queen Anne. In 1706 the
family seat at Baginton was burned, and Parliament
voted money to restore it. At Baginton is barely to be
traced the site of the castellated residence of Sir William
Bagot, at which the Duke of Hereford, afterwards Henry
IV, lodged the night previous to his projected personal
contest with Thomas Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk, on
Gosford Green ; the scene is described by Shakspeare.

ADMASTON TOWNSHIP (1843)

THE name is that of a village in Staffordshire, west of
Eccleshall and north of Newport. On the map of 1836
Admaston is called Kanmore, and Bromley is included in
Ross township.
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HORTON TOWNSHIP (1826)

'

O Grey! Peel! Sadler! Wilberforce ! Burdett!
Hume ! Wilmot Horton!
Think of your prose and verse, and worse—

Delivered in Hog’s Norton.
—Zom Hood.

THis is the name of a village in the northern part of
Staffordshire, between Leek and Congleton, but the town-
ship was named after R. J. Wilmot Horton, on whose
motion a committee of the House of Commons was
appointed in 1826 to devise a scheme of assisted emigra-
tion. The Archives of 1897 contain a list of papers
collected by Mr. Wilmot Horton on the Canada Bill, 1822.
The nare is printed on a map of 1828 as Itorton, probably
a misprint. On that map there are only two townships
(MacNabb and Itorton) north of Lanark and Carleton.

STAFFORD TOWNSHIP (1843)

Lord Stafford’s father, Duke of Buckingham,
Is either slain, or wounded dangerous.
—King Henry VI,

THIs township is called after the name of the county
in England, where Sir Charles Bagot’s family lived.
Staffordshire produces iron ore, limestone, fire stone, pipe

clay, ochre and a valuable clay that stands the fire well.
6
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The county is noted for its potteries, the manufacture of
earthenware having been brought to great perfection by
Mr. Wedgwood. During the contentions between the
Houses of York and Lancaster a decisive battle was fought
at Blore Heath in Staffordshire, and Lord Audley fell in
the action.

Stafford, the county town, gets its name from the river
Sow having been forded there by means of a staff, hence
Staff-ford. It was a place of importance at the time of
the Conquest, for it is called a city in Domesday Book.
Manufactures of leather, boots and shoes, hats and cutlery
flourish in Stafford.

Sir George Granville Gower, second Marquis of Stafford,
married, in 1785, Elizabeth, Countess of Sutherland, and
was himself created Duke of Sutherland in 1833. The
Countess raised a regiment for the defence of Britain,
called the Sutherland Fencibles. She had two sons and
two daughters. Her second son, Francis, became Earl of
Ellesmere. This noble lady, whose full title was Elizabeth
Sutherland-Gower, Marchioness of Stafford, Countess of
Sutherland, and Baroness of Strathnaver, was born in 1765,
and her father died when she was one year old. Her right
of succession to her father’s estates and title was strongly
disputed by male relatives, but was confirmed by the
House of Lords in 1771. When scarcely five years old
she thus became possessed of the most honorable title, and
of the richest domains of any of the Scottish nobility. At
the age of twenty she married the Marquis of Stafford,
distinguished not more for his wealth and exalted rank
than for his splendid patronage of the fine arts. Lady
Elizabeth Mary, Dowager Marchioness of Westminster,
the second daughter of the first Duke of Sutherland, died
at London, November 11, 1891, aged ninety-four years.
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WESTMEATH TOWNSHIP (1830)

Prince William had soldiers trom Ancaster Heath,

King James pinned his faith to the boys froni Westmeath ;

When the hosts came together, one or both had to totter—

Read the rest in the song that’s entitled  Boyne Water.”
—Alfred Bannerman.

WESTMEATH takes its name from a central county of
Ireland, traversed by the rivers Shannon and Boyne. The
family name of the Earl of Westmeath is Nugent. On
the map of 1836 Westmeath includes Stafford and
Pembroke townships.

PEMBROKE TOWNSHIP (1843)

De Argentine attends his side,
With stout De Valence, Pembroke’s pride.
—ZLord of the Isles.

Here lyes swearing Pembroke—to dye he was loath,
Yet when he departed, was choak'd with an oath.
—Tract in Bodleian Library.

PEMBROKE is the name of a Welsh county. George
Augustus Herbert, eleventh Earl of Pembroke, was born
1759, died 1827. His mother was a daughter of the
second Duke of Marlborough, and his first wife was a
granddaughter, on her mother’s side, of the third Duke of
Marlborough. ~ Robert Gourlay corresponded with the
Earl of Pembroke on emigration in 1823. His second
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son, Honorable Sidney Herbert, born 1810, died 1861,
entered Parliament in 1832 and was Secretary at the
Admiralty under Sir Robert Peel in 1841, Secretary at
War in 1845, one of the most active and influential
supporters of Peel’s free trade policy; again Secretary of
War in 1852 and Secretary for the Colonies under Palmer-
ston in 1855. He was created Lord Herbert shortly
before his death.

The title of the Earl of Pembroke is taken from
Pembroke, a market town on Milford Haven in Pembroke-
shire, Wales, which is a great ship-building point and does
a large coasting trade. The castle of Pembroke, which
dates from 1110, is one of the most splendid remnants of
military architecture in Great Britain. It was the birth-
place of Henry VI, King of England.

Peter White, born 1794, died 1878, settled at Pembroke
in 1828, when the nearest house was sixty miles distant, so
he may be fairly considered the founder of the town. He
entered the Royal Navy in 1812, came to Canada in 1813
with Sir James Yeo, served on Lake Ontario during the
war, and then embarked in the lumbering business.

ROSS TOWNSHIP (1830)

Here come the lords of Ross and Willoughby,
Bloody with spurring, fiery-red with haste.
—King Richard II.

Ross is a Gaelic word, signifying a headland or
promontory, also an isthmus and a wood.
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Mr. William White, of Pembroke, says that the town-
ship of Ross, when surveyed by Mr. McNaughton (himself
a Highlander) was partly settled by Highlanders from
Ross county in Scotland, and he doubtless gave the town-
ship the name of Ross for that reason. Ross and Cromarty,
two counties politically connected, extend across the
island from the German Ocean to the Atlantic, and both
coasts are indented with numerous bays and excellent
harbors. There is a bare possibility that Ross township in
Renfrew was named after Admiral Sir James Clark Ross,
a British navigator and discoverer, born 1800, died 1862.
He accompanied his uncle, Sir John Ross, on six voyages
to the Arctic regions between 1818 and 1833, and went to
Baffin’s Bay in search of missing whale ships in 1833, being
afterwards employed in making a magnetic survey of Great
Britain and Ireland. Then he was sent to explore the
Antarctic Sea. The Committee of the British Association
recommended the voyage of Sir James Ross to Lord
Melbourne. Lord Minto agreed, and on the 8th of April,
1839, they appointed Sir James Clark Ross to the com-
mand of the Erebus, with Commander F. R. M. Crozier in
charge of the Terror. At Van Dieman’s Iand the
expedition was to communicate with Sir John Franklin,
who was to assist in establishing a third magnetic
observatory.  Shaping their course directly for the
Magnetic pole, on January 11, 1841, they saw land. To
the highest mountain of the distant range the name of
Sabine was given, in honor of Lieut.-Col. Sabine, Secretary
to the British Association, one of the most active promoters
of the expedition, and still more distinguished by his
admirable contributions to the progress of terrestrial
magnetism.  Another mountain was named after Sir
Roderick Impey Murchison. An island was called
Franklin Island, in compliment to Sir John Franklin. On
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the 3rd of September, 1843, Sir James Ross landed at
Folkstone, the Erebus and Terror having, when paid off;
been in commission four years and five months.

BROUGHAM TOWNSHIP (1831)

Petticoat patriots, flounced John Russells,

Burdetts in blonde, and Broughams in bustles.
—Moove,

If difficulties mark his course,
There’s none aside will throw 'em
With half the intellectual force
Of gallant Henry Brougham.

— Punch.

THIS township was named after Henry, Lord
Brougham and Vaux, Lord Chancellor of England, born
in Edinburgh, 1778, died 1868. He helped to start the
Edinburgh Review in 1802, and contributed to it for
twenty-five years. Mr. Brougham entered the House of
Commons in 1810; he opposed the slave trade, favored
Catholic Emancipation and reform of the Indian Govern-
ment, and condemned flogging in the army. He labored
in the cause of popular education and gained great
popularity by his efforts on behalf of Queen Caroline.
The attorneys were so indignant at Mr. Brougham’s efforts
to reform the law and curtail their profits that they
formed a combination to give him no briefs, but the plot
fell through. As Lord Chancellor under Earl Grey, he
made a fine record, and he helped to get the Reform Bill
through the House of Lords. He censured the Canadian
policy of the Whigs and attacked Lord Durham. Lord
Brougham wrote “ Sketches of<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>